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OVERVIEW
Turning around our performance
Financial turnaround
During 2017/18 we made significant steps to return the CCG to a stable and sustainable
financial position and to ensure we are achieving value for money and high quality
outcomes for our population.
We entered 2017/18 with the significant challenge of reducing our expenditure by £38m to
achieve financial balance by the end of the year. This reduction in spend represents 4.5% of
our total expenditure. Our CCG had been placed in formal financial turnaround by NHS
England (NHSE) in December 2016, which placed us under much greater scrutiny.
By October 2017 it was clear that the actions we were taking to recover the CCG’s financial
position were supporting the achievement of financial balance at year end. Whilst the CCG
is not yet out of formal turnaround it is no longer under NHSE detailed scrutiny as from
October 2017. Supporting this tide of financial change and improvement is the fact that the
CCG has managed to deliver £34m worth of Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention
(QIPP) savings in the year ending 31 March 2018.
Some of the actions that we have taken to stabilise our finances are described in more detail
on pages 26 and 27. This included phasing out additional voluntary payments to adult social
care over and above our contribution to the Better Care Fund; consulting on ceasing
funding for Nascot Lawn respite care centre and rethinking access to some services
following a joint consultation with East and North Hertfordshire CCG, Let’s Talk. This
engaged patients in discussions on areas such as stopping providing products on the NHS
that patients can easily get without a prescription, persuading patients to get fit for planned
surgery and the availability of treatments such as IVF and female sterilisation.

Capacity and capability review and improvement plan
In early 2017 we commissioned Deloitte to undertake a capacity and capability review and
an in-depth review of our governance processes. This provided an external assessment of
our leadership, processes and governance to identify what we needed to do to secure the
right structures, processes and leadership to deliver recovery and take the organisation
forward. We also received the results of the annual 360° stakeholder survey that NHS
England commissions for all CCGs and this was a further useful source of feedback.
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Both fed into the development of an improvement plan. This included the following changes
to our internal financial processes:


A comparison of activity and spend against our peers to identify opportunities for
efficiencies prompted action to re-commission adult community health services as
reported on page 19.
 Action to reduce spend on activities with limited clinical value and prioritising our spend
to make sure that we are allocating our resources to the areas of most pressing need has
influenced our Let’s Talk consultation (see page 27) and our work to review medication
in care homes (see page 20)
 Reviewing the roles and responsibilities of executive team members, locality chairs and
clinical leads, including the wider role of locality teams so that work is more closely
aligned to CCG priorities.
 We recruited into all vacant posts in the finance team. This strengthened the support
available to budget holders and improved the quality of our financial reporting, which
gave increasing assurance to the board and to NHSE that we have control of our
finances.
 We strengthened our finance, business intelligence and contracts teams to increase
their effectiveness. Business intelligence has been brought under finance to ensure that
we understand how changes in activity drive our finances.
 We introduced tighter governance arrangements with clearer decision-making and lines
of communication between committees and a focus on assurance rather than
reassurance. This includes establishing a finance and performance committee to provide
detailed scrutiny of our financial position and to give assurance to our board. For more
information see page 75.
Most improvement actions have been implemented and incorporated into “business as
usual”. Many of these actions are also reflected throughout this annual report.

Strengthening our workforce and capacity
We are committed to developing our workforce and building leadership capacity to help
optimise talent within the organisation, enable us to deliver our improvement and
transformation plan effectively and boost staff satisfaction.
In December 2017 Diane Curbishley, Director of Nursing and Quality was appointed to the
additional role of Deputy Chief Executive and as part of her role has senior leadership
responsibility for workforce and talent management.
Over the year we have dedicated more time to our Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP) and in early 2018 have been instrumental in securing a Systems
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Leadership Lab event across the STP to help build positive and collaborative working
relationships across the partnership.
In 2017 we launched a bespoke leadership programme which was also accessible to less
senior staff. Working in collaboration with the East of England Leadership Academy we
launched a 360° feedback process for all band 7 to band 8 staff. This will enable us to
develop a bespoke leadership development programme for this group of staff in order to
enhance leadership practice and ensure effective management support to our workforce .
As part of the approach towards enhancing performance and nurturing talent, we reviewed
our appraisal paperwork and revamped the process to include the Maximising Potential
Conversation Tool (MPC-T). In response to data analysed from our appraisal process key
learning and development programmes such as HR masterclasses e.g. Managing
Organisational Change and a range of bite size workshops e.g. Using Emotional Intelligence
to Lead Teams were rolled out across the organisation to help upskill our workforce.
We are committed to the wellbeing of our staff and have rolled out the Stamping out
Bullying training to help promote a positive work environment.
The introduction of a new recruitment system has facilitated the recruitment process and
increased our ability to attract and recruit the best candidates approximately 83.5% quicker.
Our corporate induction programme now includes a distinct session on Integrated
Governance Protocol which has facilitated the orientation process for our new starters.
Three of our senior managers have successfully gained a place on the Accelerated Director
Development Scheme which is co-designed, owned and delivered on behalf of the
Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire Talent Forum. This programme enables us to identify and
develop leaders who have the potential to fill key executive director roles.
Our Commissioning team has also been accepted onto a national development programme
run by NHS Improvement - ‘Transformational Change through System Leadership’. This will
further develop our capacity to deliver our Your Care, Your Future ambitions efficiently.
Other work that we have done to support our workforce is described in the Staff Report on
pages 103 -114
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Transforming Services
This year we have continued to transform health and social care services in west
Hertfordshire, working alongside our partners in other NHS organisations and Hertfordshire
County Council. We aim to serve patients better and make services more sustainable by
coordinating patients’ care and focusing on prevention.
Our Your Care, Your Future plans align with national priorities expressed in the NHS Five
Year Forward View and with the Healthier Future sustainability and transformation
partnership (STP) for Hertfordshire and west Essex.
The effectiveness and sustainability of health services relies on providing more services in
communities or in people’s homes so that people get timely care without needing to go into
hospital. Our commitment to offering patients quality care close to home is being delivered
with new services for musculoskeletal services, diabetes and gynaecology with more on the
way.
Our plans also recognise that there will always be a need for good emergency care, surgery
and specialised care services. Investing in better hospital facilities is a key part of making
sure that health services are fit for the future.
Our GPs are also changing the way that they work, with practices doing more together to
meet the needs of their local population. We have encouraged patients’ involvement in
transforming our services too, with patient representatives on project groups and our
patient participation and involvement groups. Patients have also taken part in our wider
public consultations throughout the year.
More details on these developments are provided below.

Primary care
Commissioning of primary medical services
From April 2017, we took delegated responsibility from NHS England to directly commission
primary medical services (GP contracts). This includes responsibility for GP premises,
overseeing performance and quality of general practice, ensuring that patients have good
access to GPs and having an overview of GP practices’ budgets.
During 2017/18 the CCG has been able to assure NHS England that we that we are
effectively discharging their statutory functions for commissioning primary medical services
through robust governance arrangements and reporting.
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This has been a positive and important development for our CCG. We are working with our
practices to deliver the plans and proposals outlined in the national GP Forward View
(GPFV).

Extended access
A key priority in the GPFV is the provision of extended access to GP appointments on
evenings and weekends. We are working with our four localities to implement this national
policy. GP practices are working together and are sharing resources so that patients can be
seen at a practice within the locality or at an ‘extended access’ hub.
Watford and Three Rivers, one the national pilot sites, already offers extended access across
all practices. The number of appointments and sites the service is delivered from will
increase over 2018 to reach the national target of 100% coverage across the CCG by
October. This action will also help alleviate pressure on our local acute trusts throughout
the year.

General practice resilience
The CCG has a responsibility to ensure that there is adequate provision of good quality
general practice. In order to do this, the CCG can provide support to practices, and at the
same time, it has a duty to demonstrate value for money and support NHS objectives.
To this end, we have established a resilience review panel which assesses applications for
discretionary funding from general practice. The panel considers applications in an open,
balanced way, and ensures that any assistance provided is proportionate to the identified
need. The panel also ensures that the support is in the best interests of the patients and
CCG, and represents better value for the taxpayer than any alternative solutions.

A roundup of news from our localities
Our CCG comprises four localities – Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Harpenden and
Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a locality committee that is made up
of local GPs. The locality committees have a role in implementing plans for their areas that
fit with overall plans around primary care and wider transformation.

Dacorum (Chair: Dr Corina Ciobanu, Haverfield Surgery, Kings Langley)
Dacorum’s GP Federation, Dacorum Healthcare Providers (DHP), hosts the Dacorum Holistic
Healthcare Team (DHHT). They conduct detailed physical and mental health assessments
and instigate referrals to services as needed. This service also offers patients support from
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care coordinators who put them in contact with community organisations who can help
them to improve their well-being.
From December 2017, DHHT have been delivering an enhanced service to prevent hospital
admissions for patients who are at identified by GPs to be at risk as a result of an acute
episode of poor health or crisis in their social circumstances. They conduct detailed physical
and mental health assessments and instigate referrals to currently commissioned services as
needed.
Dacorum Healthcare Providers (DHP) are trialling five clinical pharmacists supported
through the NHSE GPFV pharmacy programme. They are employed by DHP, to work in
practices in the locality and share best practice. They see patients in the practice and review
their medication to ensure they are taking their treatment correctly.
Work continues within the locality to progress the Hemel Hospital project (see the ‘Hospital
Sites’ section of this report). An initial strategic outline plan is due to be submitted to Herts
Valleys CCG board and West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust board in 2018/19, with
information about our intentions for the service.
Two new patient members now attend the monthly Dacorum Commissioning Committee.
The insight from the patient representatives is invaluable in terms of providing feedback to
the board. In addition members are also significantly involved in projects, such as the Hemel
Hempstead Hospital service redesign project and implementing changes to Hemel
Hempstead urgent treatment centre.

Hertsmere (Chair: Dr Raja Ganguly, Little Bushey Surgery, Bushey)
In 2017/18 the locality has developed closer working relationships within and across
practices to encourage effective working relationships and best use of resources. Areas of
focus include supporting patients to look after themselves as well as GPs working together.
All nine Hertsmere practices were part of the GP resilience programme and on their request,
received an NHS England commissioned in-depth review of their service. Practices in
Borehamwood were also awarded further financial support to plan for an urgent “on the
day access” service for patients. This is part of a two year pilot programme to relieve the
particular pressure that this area was experiencing.
This year, Herts Health (the Hertsmere GP Federation) and Hertfordshire Community NHS
Trust set up a management model to review and support patients with complex, long-term
conditions. As part of this model, patients are assigned a case manager which improves
management of their condition, their independence and co-ordinating their access to other
services.
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The Hertsmere patient participation group (PPG) is a subcommittee of our locality
committee with two representatives invited to attend. Hertsmere locality provider board is
currently implementing pathways relating to falls and frailty and medicine wastage which
we have prioritised as two areas that could deliver most change.
Hertsmere United was launched in June 2017 bringing together all stakeholders to work as
one group. Stakeholders involved are Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire
Community Trust, Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and the community
navigator for the area. This joint working has supported the delivery of projects by the
Locality Provider board including the reduction of medicine wastage and the development
of a localised pathway to reduce the risk of falls in line with the STP workstream. All these
projects are ongoing.
Hertsmere has also moved to introduce extended access appointments (during evenings
and weekends) to patients from the end of March 2018.

St Albans and Harpenden (Chair: Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway, The Maltings Surgery, St
Albans)
The St Albans and Harpenden locality has quickly moved to bring together surgeries to
deliver extended access appointments to patients (evenings and weekends). The practices
have been identifying patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease and have offered
cardiac ‘prehab’ group sessions in house.
They have run two locality wide ‘target’ events. These are designed to upskill and inform
local GPs and nurses and dovetail with Herts Valleys CCG priorities.
The St Albans and Harpenden Patient Group (SAPG) is a very active group on behalf of the
patients for St Albans and Harpenden both at local and individual level. Representatives
from SAPG regularly attend monthly Locality Commissioning Committees (LCC) to ensure
that the committee considers the patient journey during their discussions. The group also
ensures strategic overviews and service redesigns and planning are brought into the public
domain. For example at their last SAPG meeting held in March, discussions focussed on the
urgent care approach for the Locality. The group were keen to hear from Herts Valleys CCG
Executives, Herts Valleys CCG board GPs and West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust on
how the urgent care approach could reduce pressure on other healthcare facilities as well as
being appropriate and convenient for patients to access.

Watford and Three Rivers (Chair: Dr Kevin Barrett, New Road Surgery, Croxley Green)
Practices work in five hubs which were established for the extended access service. We
continue to encourage practices to work together at scale in their hubs.
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The locality has a programme of work with its practices to ensure they are referring patients
into the newly designed community pathways. This means that patients can access care
closer to home. The locality is also developing an education programme for GPs, in line with
the other three localities, to support this.
The locality’s patient network hosted an event in June 2017 that included presentations
about dementia, diagnostic support services and NHS spending priorities. Several education
sessions have been delivered to patient groups with topics nutrition and hydration, falls,
urinary tract infections, sepsis. Covert medication administration sessions were provided for
care home staff.

Transforming NHS estates
Transforming hospital sites
In June 2017 the Herts Valleys CCG board approved the strategic outline case (SOC)
produced by West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust (WHHT) which proposes the
redevelopment of existing hospital sites at Watford General Hospital and St Albans City
Hospital. The SOC is now with NHS regulators for consideration and a response is awaited.
In developing the SOC we have listened to and engaged with local people to consider a wide
range of options. Expert analysis of the options showed that redeveloping existing sites
would be quicker, more straightforward, more cost effective and therefore more deliverable
than the alternative option preferred by some patients of developing a brand new hospital
on a greenfield site. However, our aim is to provide as many new buildings as we can on the
redeveloped sites.
While we wait for a national response, the CCG and the Trust have continued to engage
with clinicians as well as community and patient representatives to look at how services
could be delivered in the future across the Watford, St Albans and Hemel Hempstead.
In keeping with the Your Care, Your Future vision we aim to provide improved hospital
facilities, complemented by more local, joined-up services to meet the majority of people’s
health and care needs, close to where they live. Our approach is to develop hospitals which
are integrated into the communities and are part of a network of local services.
Health and council experts and patients are overseeing the production of a strategic outline
case for the medical centre in Hemel Hempstead. We will aim to incorporate health, care
and housing services on the same site – moving towards caring for people at home rather
than in in-patient beds.
The development of the Hemel Hempstead site links with plans for developing urgent and
primary care. Patient, community and borough council representatives sit on the Hemel

13

Hempstead Hospital project group to bring their perspective to discussions about
developing future provision. Further engagement with patients and the wider community
on our plans is planned for spring 2018.

General medical premises development
During this year, three GP practices have completed projects to enhance premises and
others are underway.
Manor Surgery and Attenborough Surgeries vacated Bushey Health Centre, having
completed their new surgery premises in August 2017. This project was achieved through a
legacy scheme from the Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust.
Bennetts End Surgery completed its project to make internal re-configurations that
improved footfall and increased clinical activity in April 2017. The project was funded by
NHS England under the Estates Technology Transformation Fund. Other projects supported
in principle under the same fund, which are at varying phases include: Carpenders Park,
Parkwood Drive, Milton Surgery and Boxwell Surgeries in Berkhamstead, Lattimore and
Village Surgery, Markyate and The Elms in Watford.
In other developments, we approved Haverfield Surgery in Kings Langley to relocate into
new purpose built premises and an upgrade to Chorleywood Surgery. Both schemes are cost
neutral to the CCG for much improved premises.

The Marlowes Health and Wellbeing Centre : Hub for mental and physical health services
The Marlowes Health and Wellbeing Centre opened to patients in March, bringing
community mental and physical health services from Hertfordshire Partnership University
NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT), and Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) under one
roof.
There are dedicated floors for adults and children creating the right environment for
different patients and making services easier to find.
For more information go to http://www.hpft.nhs.uk/services/the-marlowes-health-andwellbeing-centre/

Urgent Care
Urgent care services for patients in west Hertfordshire have been developed during
2017/18, linked to the emerging west Hertfordshire urgent care strategy led by the CCG.
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The strategy is creating a more integrated urgent care system will see all parts of the NHS
working together to make sure patients with varying physical and mental health needs
receive effective, timely care first time, in the right place. The multi-agency group that is
developing urgent care services also includes patient representatives who have been
involved in visits to look at best practice elsewhere in the country.
Central to the new approach is an improved NHS111 service which acts as the ‘front door’
into urgent care services for most patients.
In June 2017 we introduced an improved, more integrated Hertfordshire-wide 111 service,
jointly commissioned by Herts Valleys and East and North Hertfordshire CCGs. The
enhanced service gives patients direct access to a wider variety of healthcare professionals
including GPs, nurses, dentists, prescribing pharmacists and mental health professionals
who provide a clinical assessment service. Working alongside the trained healthcare
advisors who answer calls, the clinical team makes sure that patients get the right help for
their needs at the earliest possible stage.
The west Hertfordshire strategy fits with NHS England’s national plan for strengthening
urgent care services so that more patients with non-emergency care needs can be treated
locally to help release pressure on hospitals and particularly on A&E departments.
This new national plan included the roll-out of urgent treatment centres, including the
establishment of an urgent treatment centre (UTC) at Hemel Hospital from December 2017.
In addition to all the services previously available in the urgent care centre, the UTC offers
patients additional benefits such as booked appointments through NHS111 and on-site
testing for some conditions such as sepsis and deep vein thrombosis.
From 31 January to 28 March 2018 we consulted with the public on opening hours for the
UTC to support a decision by the CCG board in May.
The UTC will develop further during 2018, introducing tests for respiratory infections and
anaemia. The current team of GPs and nurses is planned to grow to include other
professionals such as pharmacists, emergency care practitioners, access to mental health
services and community nursing staff.
In addition to the Hemel Hempstead UTC, which serves patients across the area and
beyond, we are developing urgent treatment approaches in other localities and are working
alongside local groups to ensure that emerging plans reflect local needs and circumstances.
The CCG will consult separately on the development of these local urgent treatment
services during 2018.
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Developing patient-focused services
We are developing new community-based services that reflect our Your Care, Your Future
ambitions to provide coordinated care closer to home.
Providers including NHS Trusts, Herts One, which is an organisation run by GPs, and
Hertfordshire County Council have signed up to work together to redesign and deliver a
number of services. In some cases we are going out to procurement, inviting providers to
bid to deliver newly specified services.
Patients and carers have been involved in developing these remodelled services: sharing
their experience of current services and giving us their views on what they would like to see
change through ways of delivering care. Patients are also involved in evaluating bids for new
services and feeding back on improvement proposals from existing providers.
On-going engagement with patient and service users includes a regular planned and primary
care network meeting. This is open to any patients and service users and provides regular
updates on adult services and as well as inviting patients’ queries and feedback.
We have been encouraging GPs to refer patients into the new community-based services.
Here we outline just a few examples of these new- style services that are being developed.

Integrated community nursing and therapy services
In spring 2017 we reviewed the multi-agency ‘rapid response’ services that aim to reduce
emergency hospital admissions among over 65s, as well as linked community nursing,
therapy and support services.
This led to us re-commissioning the service and working with partners - particularly
Hertfordshire Community Trust and primary care practitioners - to develop a more holistic
community service tailored to local needs. Patient representatives have been key to the
development of the new re-commissioned model and were involved in the evaluation of the
proposal submitted by Hertfordshire Community Trust.
The new integrated service was introduced from October 2017, with the aim of supporting
more adults to be looked after at home rather than in hospital. This includes




assessment of patients who are at immediate risk of admission to hospital
coordinated support for patients with complex needs and helping patients with long
term illnesses to manage their condition
supporting timely and safe discharge for patients from hospital back to their home,
including care homes
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A centralised referral hub provides single point of contact for all four localities. This is
providing better communications between GPs, practice teams, care home teams and
patients, more responsive customer service and standardised processes.

Diabetes
We have worked with providers to launch an integrated diabetes service from April 2018
which provides patients with most treatment in their local community rather than in
hospital and ensures their care is better coordinated.
The new service has been developed over the last 12 to 15 months. Development has been
overseen by the diabetes clinical forum, with input from patients and representative groups
including Diabetes UK. West Hertfordshire Hospital NHS Trust (WHHT) is the lead provider
for this service working on a five year contract with Hertfordshire Community Trust,
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust (HPFT) and Herts One GP Federation.

Gynaecology
An enhanced community-based service for gynaecology patients aged 16 years and over
started on 1 April 2018 following a two year development which has had input from patients
and service users through surveys.
The service is available in at least one location or ‘hub’ in each of our four
localities. Patients are seen by clinicians in these local hubs rather than in hospitals. Most
patients can be looked after within the new service and if they need secondary care,
including surgery, they are offered a choice of hospital to receive this.
The new service is led by the current community gynaecology provider, Community
Gynaecology Partnerships, on a three year contract and is fully integrated between the
community and secondary care providers (WHHT, Royal Free London and Luton & Dunstable
hospitals).

Stroke
We continue to work with all our providers and partners to ensure an integrated stroke
service that supports people at every stage and helps them to stay well. This includes acute
hospitals, community in-patient units, the early supported discharge service and
community-based social care and voluntary organisations. We work closely with the Stroke
Association to ensure patient views are represented in all areas of stroke service
development.
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A coordinated service between health and social care ensures that patients moving from
acute stroke units receive smooth handovers to specialist community teams to continue
their care and rehabilitation.
This has led to improved outcomes for patients with many people spending less time in
hospital after a stroke. The average length of stay in Watford General, which treats most
people in our area, following a full stroke reduced from 19 days in 2015/16 to 15 days in
2017/18. Increased joint care planning and six monthly health and social care reviews
continue to be delivered as this helps speed up recovery and to prevent secondary strokes.
National stroke performance is measured through the Sentinel Stroke National Audit
Programme. West Herts Hospital Trust sustained their level ‘A’ rating throughout the past
year. The specialist neurological and stroke rehabilitation unit at Langley House in Watford,
which support patients coming out of hospital, recently achieved their first ‘A’ rating. This
places Herts Valleys in the top 16 % of stroke performance nationally.

Cardiology
This year we have worked with providers to ensure that heart failure patients have rapid
access to tests, advice and guidance within the community so that we reduce admissions to
hospital and reduce the length of stay for patients once admitted.
A new integrated care model has been developed using feedback from patients through the
‘Friends and Families Test’, planned and primary care network events, input from the
Patient and Public Involvement Committee and British Heart Foundation sitting on the
cardiology group.
New referral hubs provide a single point of access for patients to see the right specialist
(who will have the right information from tests where appropriate) as soon as possible. This
replaces the testing service, previously provided by Concordia, which we decommissioned in
2017 due to concerns with the quality of the service. The activity that was previously going
to Concordia is now being referred to our local acute trusts.

Respiratory services
We have worked with West Hertfordshire Hospital Trust and community provider Central
London Community Health Trust to develop an integrated point of access for all respiratory
conditions. This will support patients being seen in the right place, at the right time by the
most appropriate clinician whether that is in community or in a specialist hospital. Patient
choice will apply. The proposal is currently in its final modelling with an aim to pilot this
during 2018/19.
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The new model has all been developed in conjunction with feedback from patients through
the ‘Friends and Families Test’, planned and primary care network events and wider patient
events.

Community, musculoskeletal (MSK), pain and postural stability
In January 2018, the CCG launched a new comprehensive community service for patients
with musculoskeletal (MSK), rheumatology and pain-related conditions and people who are
at risk of falls. This followed an open-market procurement, with Connect Physical Health
being awarded the contract.
The single service replaces a number of smaller contracts and is designed to bring a number
of benefits. Creating a single service that has a range of specialists to call on is leading to
reduced waiting times for patients. Giving patients timely care gives them better quality of
life, avoids their condition worsening and increases their chance of making a full recovery.
Over 5,000 existing patients have been successfully transferred to Connect Health from the
previous provider Hertfordshire Community Trust as well as other smaller providers. All
concerned have worked hard to ensure continuity of care for patients.
Physiotherapy for patients who have had a trauma or an emergency attendance at hospital
is still provided by hospital physiotherapists.
More information about the new service can be found at
www.hertsvalleys.connecthealth.co.uk

Re-commissioning adult community health services
A review of spending on adult community services in 2017 highlighted to the need to
significantly transform current services. Over many months, the CCG board considered a
number of issues and decided to re-commission adult community health services. This
means we can achieve large-scale changes quickly; including developing more integrated
services that provide care closer to home in line with Your Care, Your Future.
We want to move away from a reactive service and where the money that we pay out is
based on the number of patients seen. Instead we will pay a future provider on how
successfully they help patients and improve their health, wellbeing and independence. We
will also focus on other aspects such as quality of care and patient experience.
The amount we spend on these services will remain broadly the same. However, providers
bidding for the new service are invited to look how they can spend that money most
effectively to achieve the best possible outcomes for patients.
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Prospective providers will be expected to show how they will improve services through
integration and collaboration, with GPs and primary care services, social care, secondary
care and mental health services. We are also looking to providers to consider how they
might be able to draw upon the strengths and the expertise of our strong voluntary and
community sector and local social enterprises. We hope that bids for the service will put
forward models of care to demonstrate comprehensive care delivered by professionals
working together.
The CCG has involved patient representatives, current staff and patients and prospective
service providers and the voluntary and community sector in developing a specification for
the new service. We also have patient representatives sitting on the project team. The
procurement launches early 2018/19.

Improving medicines’ use and nutrition in care homes
During 2017 we took action to improve the health and welfare of patients in care homes
and to reduce unnecessary spend by taking a new approach to managing medicines.
We appointed additional staff to do medication reviews in selected care homes. They
worked with residents, the care home, carers, GP, community pharmacist and other
healthcare professionals to look holistically at every aspect of each person’s medicines care.
This included looking at whether reducing or changing sedative medicines might reduce
patients’ risk of falling and whether stopping medicines that had a dehydrating effect might
reduce urinary tract infections.
As patients stop taking medication that is not helping them, we have seen an improvement
in patient health and a reduction in hospital admissions as well as making direct pharmacy
savings.
We have commissioned a dietician-led service to educate care home staff to take a ‘food
first’ approach and encourage eating rather than supplement-based ‘sip feeds’. This has a
beneficial effect on residents and won a first prize at national prescribing awards in 2017.
The use of oral nutritional supplements has reduced and we have achieved savings. Followup reviews suggest that residents’ weights are being maintained or improved.

Preventing ill-health
We have developed to improve our work to prevent ill-health in various ways over the last
year, often working with our STP partners.
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Our ‘Let’s Talk’ consultation in 2017 led to changes in Hertfordshire’s ‘fit for surgery’ policies
and in prescribing over-the-counter medicines that help people look after themselves.
An updated ‘fit for surgery’ policy requires patients with a high BMI or who smoke to take
action to reduce their weight or to stop smoking before planned non-emergency surgery. As
well as ensuring that patients recover better from surgery, the approach is designed to
make patients rethink their lifestyle choices with encouragement from medical
professionals. If lifestyle improvements are maintained this could have a significant longterm benefit for patients beyond their planned surgery.
A new policy of stopping the prescribing of medicines for short-term conditions that are
readily available over the counter will have the added benefit of encouraging self-care by
directing patients to seek advice from their pharmacist rather than their GP surgery.
Other initiatives are as follows:








We have developed a ‘prevention dashboard’ with help from public health which
measures how well GP practices are using prevention services. The information will
reinforce best practice and to encourage practices with low referral rates to identify high
risk patients and support them in accessing services.
A cardiac prehab scheme, in St Albans and Harpenden, uses practice databases to
identify patients at high risk of cardiovascular disease and invite them to an education
session with a GP. Patients who sign up to a wellbeing plan are referred to appropriate
services such as weight management, smoking cessation, exercise on referral and
national diabetes prevention programme. The practice does a follow-up to look at
patients’ progress. This scheme could be rolled out across the CCG in the coming year.
We have been working with public health and Hertfordshire Independent Living Service
(HILS) develop a pilot scheme that will encourage users of the HILS service who are
currently inactive to take their next steps to becoming more active. HILS is a charitable
social enterprise that provides community meals and support services to older and
vulnerable people. This pilot will go live in 2018.
We are trialling a ‘physical activity and clinical advice pad’ scheme in GP surgeries in
Watford and St Albans from May. GPs will have a pad of tear-off advice sheets that they
can hand at the end of a consultation, in place of a prescription, to patients with low
levels of physical activity.

These local initiatives are over and above the prevention work that the CCG is actively
involved in as part of the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership, as detailed in the
following section.
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‘A Healthier Future’ Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) Improving health and care in Hertfordshire and west Essex
As part of the Healthier Future Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP), CCGs,
councils, health and ambulance services, GPs, patient representative groups and the
voluntary and community sector across Hertfordshire and west Essex have come together to
improve health and care and join up our plans for the years ahead.
As well as making sure we meet the needs of local people, it is important that the NHS and
local councils think differently in order to respond to challenges in the wider health system.
Local challenges include:


a 37% predicted increase in over 75s in the next 10 years across Hertfordshire and west
Essex, leading to higher care costs
 obesity, smoking, alcohol and not enough exercise are all causing health problems
 difficulties with recruiting and retain enough doctors, nurses and care staff is difficult
due to high living costs make
 tackling avoidable admissions to hospitals and support early discharges
 making health and care systems’ technology work better together
 some buildings are not fit for purpose.
We want to make sure that no matter where people live, they have excellent, high quality
care and experiences. Our aim is to deliver integration across health and social care services,
ensure better use of resources and to take a more proactive and personalised approach to
patient care that also supports prevention and self-management.
This new way of working brings lots of new opportunities and will lead to practical changes
to how health and social care works in this area.
Watch this NHS England video to find out more about STPs.

The sustainability and transformation partnership in its second year
Now in its second year the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP is evolving to deliver these
ambitions.
In November 2017, the Chair of the Herts Valleys board, Dr Nicolas Small, was appointed as
one of the new clinical co-chairs of the STP, working alongside GP chairs in the East and
North Hertfordshire and West Essex CCGs.
These new roles are designed to bring together clinicians working in acute hospitals,
community health services, mental health, public health and primary care to develop
consensus and buy-in to STP work from clinical and social care colleagues. They will also
share good practice and address variations in clinical practice and outcomes across the area.
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For example, there are differences across the STP area in ambulance call out rates,
prescribing patterns in general practice, unscheduled admissions to hospitals and cancer
care outcomes. By looking at these differences and understanding them, we can develop
more effective clinical pathways and deliver transformation at scale.
Having a ‘patient voice’ is essential and a member of Herts Valleys Patient and Public
Involvement Committee has been invited to take a special interest in these clinical
discussions.

In its second year, the STP has started to deliver a number of improvements for
patients.
Extra funding for cancer care
Cancer care is an enormous challenge and we are trying to understand and address the
variation in performance across the STP area in terms of improved 62 day and two week
wait standards
The STP has secured more than £200,000 from the East of England cancer alliance to speed
up treatment for people with suspected lung and prostate cancer. We know we need to
improve outcomes for people with these cancers, so this money to diagnose cancers earlier
and begin treatment faster will help more people to live long lives after their diagnosis.

Making the money for medicines go further
Across the STP area, CCG pharmacists have been working together to identify where savings
can be made in the cost of medicines. So far the project has identified 23 drugs where there
are cheaper, unbranded versions or ‘biosimilars’ which work in the same way as the more
expensive versions.

Creating a single care plan
In January, health and social care experts and patient representatives from across the STP
area got together to start work on creating a single care plan for frail patients. The aim is to
better co-ordinate care, help patients to feel more involved in their treatment and ensure
that their wishes are clearly recorded and followed. A new single plan would replace the
multiple plans currently used by different organisations. It would help clinicians work better
together and patients to understand the full picture of their health condition.

23

Strengthening prevention and early detection
Work across the STP has focused on tackling priority areas including weight reduction,
smoking cessation, prevention of diabetes, reduction of harm from alcohol and reducing the
number of people who have strokes by managing blood pressure. Progress across the STP
this year is as follows.






We have successfully submitted a bid to the British Heart Foundation to run a
community blood pressure monitoring service using pharmacists, fire and rescue teams
and Hertfordshire Health Improvement Service. The aim is to identify people with
hypertension who would not normally access healthcare services and provide them with
lifestyle advice and guidance.
Action is being taken to improve early detection of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease
(NAFLD) and related cirrhosis through better management of patients in primary care.
Earlier intervention will provide better outcomes for patients and help reduce
unnecessary referrals to secondary care.
We have developed a service to support identification of Atrial Fibrillation in primary
care. In Herts Valleys CCG this includes the roll out of mobile ECG devices to all GP
practices.

Managing system pressures
Having secured funding from NHS England, an urgent care dashboard programme is being
rolled out. This will allow all parts of the NHS to manage the health system better across the
STP and allows us to be more proactive during times of pressure.
Despite some of the early anxieties about what STPs can achieve, we are finding common
themes across our areas that we feel can be addressed by working at a larger scale. This will
be further developed during 2018/19 as we develop an Integrated Care Partnership across
Hertfordshire and West Essex.
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PERFORMANCE REPORT
This section provides a summary of key information so readers can understand Herts Valleys
CCG: our purpose, the key risks to the achievement of our objectives and how we have
performed during the year on a number of core activities.
The overview section describes our performance against key targets together with our
financial performance. Further detail on financial performance is given in the accounts and
within the corporate governance report section of the accountability report. Key risks
identified in 2017/18 are listed in the section on ‘risk management arrangements’, also
within the governance report.
As with any NHS organisation Herts Valleys CCG faces the common challenge of having to
balance the demand pressures placed upon it with the restrictions of working within a
tightly defined financial envelope and the national limitation of available physical resources.
These challenges naturally bring risk to the overall delivery of the CCG’s objectives.
However, by applying the same firm focus which has enabled the CCG to have successfully
come through our turnaround phase we are confident that we can meet future challenges.

Overview: about Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group
We are the NHS organisation responsible for commissioning (planning, designing and
buying) health services on behalf of people who live in west Hertfordshire. This is a
population of about 627,000.
Our governing body - our board - is mainly made up of GPs and other clinicians with the
remainder comprising very senior CCG managers and lay members.
We are a member organisation and our 67 member GP practices are arranged into four
localities: Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers.
Each of these localities has a locality committee that is made up of local GPs. The locality
committees provide our board with advice using their local knowledge and expertise to
support us in carrying out our role successfully.
In 2017/18 we had a total budget of around £840 million that we spent on community,
hospital, general practice and mental health services. We jointly commission some of our
services – such as mental health, NHS 111 and the GP out-of-hours service. Our
commissioning partners are Hertfordshire County Council and East and North Hertfordshire
Clinical Commissioning Group.
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Actions to stabilise our finances
Discretionary social care payments
During 2017/18 we reduced additional discretionary payments to Hertfordshire County
Council for Social Care by £4m. A further reduction of £3.5m will be made in 2018/19. Both
organisations continue to work closely together to maintain positive and collaborative
relationships and achieve the best outcomes for our patients from the Better Care Fund.

Nascot Lawn
We have scrutinised every line of our budget to prioritise spending on services that we have
a statutory duty to provide. This led to a decision by the CCG to withdraw funding from
Nascot Lawn in Watford, a respite care service for children with complex health needs that
has been historically funded as a health provision.
In early 2017 we concluded that we could not continue to fund a respite service given the
county council’s statutory responsibility for short breaks. This was reaffirmed by a
subsequent decision in November. Our finance and performance committee expressed a
preference for a joint funding solution with the county council and concluded that the CCG
could not continue to provide substantive funding for Nascot Lawn.
The CCG and the county council have extensively engaged with parents and carers with
children at Nascot Lawn and with patient representative groups as part of work to identify
suitable provision within county council respite services. We have carried out joint needs
assessments that address both health and social care needs. These confirmed that the
health needs of children attending Nascot Lawn could be met within county council services.
A high court judgement on the CCG’s November decision found that the CCG had carried out
proper and appropriate public involvement and had comprehensively assessed the needs of
children but ruled that we needed to formally consult with the county council under health
scrutiny regulations and make a new decision. As part of our consultations with the county
council we explored opportunities to take forward a joint commissioning approach to
overnight short breaks so that we take a holistic approach to meeting children’s health and
social care needs. Discussions also took place with East and North Herts CCG to ensure that
all partners are on board with this way of working.
The board held in public on 10 May 2018 unanimously agreed to cease funding of Nascot
Lawn and enter into a joint agreement with Herts County Council and East and North Herts
CCG to jointly fund overnight short breaks, with each CCG providing £100k a year towards
supporting the health needs of the children.
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‘Let’s Talk’
As part of work to prioritise spend on areas of most pressing need and in line with our
emphasis on encouraging self-care and prevention, we reviewed spending in a number of
areas, along with East and North Herts CCG. In July 2017 we launched a joint ten week
consultation,’ Let’s Talk’, on the following proposals:


Tightening up our ‘fit for surgery’ policy existing rules so that people who smoke or
whose weight is classified as ‘obese’ are required to make bigger improvements to their
health before non-urgent surgery (unless a longer wait for surgery would be harmful)
 Limiting routine prescription of medicines and products that can be bought over the
counter for short-term conditions and minor ailments
 Restricting the prescribing of gluten-free foods
 Stopping the routine funding of female sterilisation procedures
 Not providing routine funding for vasectomies (Herts Valleys CCG only)
As part of a STP-wide consultation on a proposal to restrict NHS-funded IVF and specialist
fertility services, other than in exceptional circumstances, we consulted on a proposal to go
down from one treatment cycle to none in west Hertfordshire.
In developing the consultation the CCGs had input from Hertfordshire Healthwatch and the
county council’s health scrutiny committee.
The consultation was widely promoted and we directly engaged patients through various
meetings. More detail about our engagement programme can be found on page 51.
Feedback from the consultation was reported to a joint meeting of both CCG boards in
October. The majority of the proposals including ‘for surgery’ policies, prescribing changes
and stopping funding for female sterilisation received considerable public support and were
approved for implementation.
The majority of respondents (70%) wanted the CCG to continue to fund one cycle of IVF.
Reflecting emergency financial measures during 2017/18 the board agreed to stop funding
for IVF and other specialist fertility treatments, except in exceptional circumstances but
agreed to review this policy in 12 months. Certain patients whose treatment had been
paused during the consultation were given access to one cycle of treatment in line with the
CCG policy.
The CCG decided to reinstate funding for vasectomies, reflecting on comments made by a
number of consultees that the long-term cost of funding alternative contraceptive services
over-rode any savings from no longer funding the procedure.
These decisions are being implemented in association with GPs and patient representatives.
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How we spent our budget

Expenditure 2017/18
Acute hospitals
Mental health and learning
disabilities

2%
2%

8%

4%

Community services

9%
52%

6%
8%

Continuing care/funded nursing
care
Medicines management,
including prescribing

9%

Other primary care
Primary Care Delegated Budgets
Other programme

Annual Accounts
2016/17
£000

Annual Accounts
2017/18
£000

Revenue resource limit
Programme
Running costs

748,530
13,203

839, 610
13,249

Sub total

761,733

852,859

Expenditure
Acute hospitals
Mental health and learning disabilities
Community services
Continuing care/funded nursing care
Medicines management, including prescribing
Other primary care
Primary Care Delegated Budgets
Other programme
Running costs

438,574
79,765
66,471
34,877
74,174
15,757
0
38,693
13,178

442,350
77,348
67,370
48,263
76,863
20,023
72,324
30,330
13,239

Sub Total

761,489

848,109

244

4,750

Surplus

28

In the table and chart above ‘other primary care’ includes services such as the supply of
oxygen, the GP out- of- hours service and IT services to GP practices.
‘Other programme’ includes services such as physiotherapy, counselling and a proportion
of our contribution to the Better Care Fund. The CCG took on responsibility for delegated
primary care budgets in 2017/18.

Financial performance targets
The CCG’s 2017/18 financial plan, agreed at the start of the year with NHS England, included
a contribution equivalent to 0.5% of our allocation to a national financial risk reserve. We
held this funding back throughout the year. A further 0.5% of our allocation had to be
invested non-recurrently on transformation priorities. This was used to support the
achievement of our savings challenge, in agreement with NHS England.
We have a statutory duty to ensure that our expenditure does not exceed our total revenue
resource limit (RRL). We have met this duty in each year of our existence. The 2017/18 plan
assumed the delivery of a small surplus of £0.1m at the end of the year. This target has been
met.
As set out in the 2017/18 NHS planning guidance, CCGs were required to hold a 0.5%
national financial risk reserve uncommitted from the start of the year. The national position
across the provider sector has been such that NHS England has been unable to allow CCGs
to spend this reserve locally. Therefore, to comply with national requirements, we have
released this 0.5% reserve to the bottom line, resulting in an additional surplus for the year
of £3.8m.
Each year, NHS England negotiates price savings for a specified list of drugs known as
category M. For 2017/18 the value of these savings was so significant that NHS England
decided to hold these savings centrally to be available across the whole NHS. As the year
progressed, all CCGs increasingly faced substantial price pressures from short stocks of
generic drugs. As a result of these price pressures, NHS England decided to return the
category M savings to CCGs, to improve the bottom line. This meant an additional surplus of
£0.75m for our CCG.
As a result of these changes, the in-year surplus target for 2017/18 increased to £4.62m. We
met this target and delivered an in year surplus of £4.75m.

Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund (BCF) initiative was announced in the 2013 spending review, and
required CCGs and local authorities to pool funding for the delivery of integrated health and
social care. As a result, partnerships of CCGs and local authorities have entered into
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agreements under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended 2012), overseen by local
health and wellbeing boards. These agreements have established pooled budgets to enable
integrated commissioning of care from providers, which have been in place since 2015/16.
In line with last year, in 2017/18 Hertfordshire continued to pool the majority of HCC and
CCG out-of-hospital older people budgets in to the BCF, totalling around £280m.
Contributions are as follows:





Hertfordshire County Council - £97.2m
Herts Valleys CCG - £97.6m
East and North Herts CCG - £83m
Cambridge and Peterborough CCG - £1m
(Plus improved Better Care Fund - £13m

Contributions to the Better Care Fund
2017/18 by Organisation (£millions)
Herts County Council

1

83

iBCF

97.2

Herts Valleys CCG

97.6

East & North Herts CCG
13
Cambridgeshire &
Peterborough CCG

The introduction of the improved Better Care Fund (iBCF), a new adult social care grant
allocation to support local care capacity, amounted to an additional £13m for Hertfordshire
in 2017/18 (£12m in 2018/19). This non-recurrent funding has been pooled into the BCF and
has been used to: smooth the impact of reducing CCG funding, provide an inflationary pay
rise for homecare workers, fund the discharge to assess programme, boost social work and
occupational therapy team capacity, provide one-off training for an admission prevention
scheme and fund voluntary sector discharge schemes.
Hertfordshire is now working to a new, two-year BCF plan, which outlines health and social
care integration plans for 2017/19. These are centred on the resident-focussed ‘integration
framework’, which sets out what we want joined-up care to look like by 2020. It outlines
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how, by working in a more integrated way, we can deliver a health and social care system
that is characterised by:


Electronic record and data-sharing – better sharing of information between health
and social care teams and developing a digital shared care record that empowers the
patient and is accessible to all appropriate professionals.



Early intervention – preventing escalation of care needs by ensuring that patients,
their families and carers have access to the information and advice they need, as
well as wider use of risk stratification to target specific groups and adopting a
preventative approach to care coordination.



Value for money – using joint commissioning for shared contracts, market
stimulation and budgets in order to put in place more streamlined and efficient ways
of working that directly benefit patients through better quality services.



Assessment and care planning – developing a shared culture that encourages an
outcomes-based approach across partners, as well as viewing the patient as a key
partner in their care.



Integrated and community care – moving towards more locality-based planning and
service delivery, as well as greater joint working with primary care and rolling out
enhanced care in care homes.



Timely and safe discharges – further adoption of integrated tools and working
structures and a shared enablement approach across health and social care partners
in order to better manage patient flow and improve discharges and transfers
between health and social care settings.



Integrated urgent care – further improve joint working between emergency and
community teams as well as implementing multi-disciplinary teams in all areas and
rolling integrated models out more widely.

In 2017/18, Hertfordshire’s health and social care integration activity has included:




Continuing to bring together teams of staff from a range of professions, such as
community nurses, therapists, mental health and social care workers, leading to
smoother and more joined-up services for patients. Examples include the integrated
discharge teams in hospital settings and the multi-specialty teams (MSTs) that
provide holistic case management for people with complex health and care needs.
Putting in place discharge to assess initiatives for people who are medically fit to
leave hospital so that they can be assessed for their on-going care needs in the
community or in their own home, and don’t have to stay in hospital for longer than
they need to. For example, in Watford, nursing beds near to the hospital have been
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commissioned and a model of care put in place to rehabilitate frail patients and
improve their chances of returning home.
Expanding the voluntary sector-led hospital discharge service, now called the
hospital and community navigation service. This provides practical and emotional
support to people to help them maintain their independence at the point that they
are discharged from hospital, to manage their health and wellbeing and access
community resources.
Implementing a shared home improvement agency, bringing together the County
Council and local housing authorities to provide a single end-to-end service for home
adaptations that supports independent living, as well as aiming to reduce waiting
times and provide a more resilient service.

Performance against key targets in 2017/18
1. Overview of performance
The following table shows Herts Valleys’ performance against the key targets in 2017/18 as
set by NHS England. The performance data relates to the treatment of patients registered
with practices in the Herts Valleys CCG area. Final year-end data for March 2018 will only be
available in June 2018, so the table shows our performance for the period April 2017 to
January 2018.
Key:
Red – target missed
Green – target met
Key Performance indicator

Target
Level

Year to date
at January
2018

Cancer standards
Cancer 2 week waits following urgent GP referral for suspected cancer 93%

95.2%

Cancer 2 week waits - breast symptomatic where cancer not
suspected

93%

94.2%

Cancer 31 day - 1st definitive treatment from diagnosis

96%

96.9%

Cancer 31 day - subsequent treatment for cancer - Surgery

94%

96.4%

Cancer 31 day - subsequent treatment for cancer - Drugs

98%

98.0%

Cancer 31 day - subsequent treatment - Radiotherapy

94%

91.8%

Cancer 62 days - 1st treatment following an urgent GP referral

85%

83.6%

Cancer 62 days - 1st treatment following referral from Screening
Service

90%

92.5%
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Key Performance indicator

Cancer 62 days - 1st treatment following consultants decision to
upgrade

Target
Level

Year to date
at January
2018

90%

85.5%

75%

73.9%

92%
99%

89.6%
99.2%

95%

81.2%

16.8%

16.2%

50%
67%

54.4%
67.5%

Ambulance standards
Ambulance Category A - Red 1 ( immediate life threatening and most
time critical) response arriving within 8 minutes
Elective care standards
18 week referral to treatment - incomplete pathway
Diagnostic tests - % of patients waiting 6 weeks or more
Urgent care standards
A&E total time in Department - less than 4 hours
Mental health standards
Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) – 16.8%
prevalence
IAPT Recovery rate (local data)
Dementia diagnosis rate

We measure our performance through a monthly quality and performance report that
includes information about a range of services provided to our patients by a number of NHS
hospitals, the mental health trust, the community trusts and the ambulance service. This
report highlights performance against standards and targets so that the board are informed
and can discuss any issues and take actions that may be needed to assure standards are
met. Performance and other board reports are available on the CCG website.
My NHS is a useful tool that compares providers, CCGs, GP practices and care homes on a
range of outcomes at both national and regional level. It is a useful tool for the CCGs
patients and stakeholders to understand performance standards of each part of the system.
As more information is uploaded to the site, the CCG will continue to review results as a
mechanism to understand and improve quality and performance.

2. Performance analysis
Cancer performance
In 2016/17 we met four of the national cancer performance standards. In 2017/18 our
cancer performance has significantly improved and we are now achieving six of the eight
cancer waiting times (CWT) targets.
The two standards which have not been met, as shown in the data from April - December
2017/18 are:-
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Cancer 31 day - subsequent treatment, radiotherapy: 92% against a 94% target.
Cancer 62 days - first treatment following an urgent GP referral: 83.8% against an 85%
target
The cancer standards are measured as the percentage of patients who are seen or treated
within the stated timeframe. There are relatively small numbers of patients who need to be
seen in these services so a very small number of patients seen outside of the standard can
be the difference between meeting and not meeting the target. We are working very closely
with the cancer service providers and with our GPs who refer the patients to ensure all
patients have as short a wait as possible.
Actions being taken to improve performance include:


GP practices are working with our local cancer service provider, West Herts Hospital
Trust (WHHT) to improve the use of the electronic referral system.
 We are working with East and North Herts CCG, the lead commissioner for East and
North Herts Trust, who deliver the majority of our radiotherapy, to improve
achievement of radiotherapy standards, in line with their recovery plan.
We are working closely with West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust to carry out detailed
analysis of cancer pathways to identify points of delay and develop plans to address
these.
 We are working with our neighbouring CCGs and cancer providers where Herts Valleys
are not the lead commissioner, to ensure that actions to improve performance are being
undertaken to improve outcomes for our patients.
 We are working with our STP group to put plans in place to apply for NHS England
cancer transformation funding to enable us to make key improvements to improve early
diagnosis and improve the quality of life of people living with and beyond cancer.
The Herts Valleys CCG Quality and Finance and Performance Committees and cancer action
group both meet regularly and closely monitor performance and provider action plans to
make sure that patients with cancer or who are suspected of having cancer are seen and
treated within the national standards.

Ambulance performance
An independent review took place during the year to look at what costs were required for
East of England Ambulance Trust (EEAST) to improve patient care and to fully meet the new
ambulance response programme (ARP) standards which were introduced in October. The
findings of the review concluded that extra investment regionally of circa £12m was
required in 2018/19 to improve core standard performance, with a further £15m in 2019/20
to fully meet standards. The ambulance commissioning consortium is fully committed to
funding the necessary investment to improve patient care.
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Due to the implementation of the new response standards during the year, there has been a
period of settling in the new system over a busy winter period, and handover delays
continued to worsen over the peak demand period, resulting in long delays for patients
waiting for an ambulance in the community. Commissioners have been working closely with
providers locally to alleviate handover delays and to ensure patients are treated as quickly
as possible in the most appropriate care pathway for their needs.

Non-emergency patient transport services
Herts Valleys CCG, working as part of a consortium of CCGs across Hertfordshire and
Bedfordshire, took decisive action in 2017 to stabilise the non-emergency patient transport
service (NEPTS). The service provides transport to and from hospitals and treatment centres
for patients with planned appointments, including treatment such as dialysis, radiotherapy
and chemotherapy, as well as supporting hospital discharges.
In the first half of 2017/18 the service was provided by Private Ambulance Service (PAS).
PAS struggled to meet demand and the CCG oversaw the delivery of an improvement plan
following concerns raised by patients and local NHS Trusts about quality and reliability.
When PAS was issued with a winding-up order at the end of September the consortium of
CCGs took rapid action to find a short-term solution that would ensure continuity of service
and minimise disruption for patients.
Using emergency powers the consortium moved quickly to establish a caretaker contract
with the East of England Ambulance Service (EEAST) to provide non-emergency patient
transport across the two counties. The CCGs worked closely with EEAST to ensure that
services transferred over smoothly with minimal disruption. Within two weeks of the new
service being mobilised feedback from patients and hospital staff suggested that the new
service was working well, with patients being collected on time to attend their outpatient
appointments.The consortium has now agreed a two year non-emergency patient transport
contract with East of England Ambulance Service (EEAST), providing assurance to patients
and Trusts about the ongoing quality and consistency of services.

Elective care referral to treatment (RTT)
It has been challenging year in terms of the national RTT target. West Hertfordshire
Hospitals NHS Trust, the CCG’s largest provider, started the year on trajectory, achieving
compliance of more than 90% in the early months of the year. However, on-going
maintenance issues with some theatres had the effect of reducing capacity for a number of
months, although the Trust was able to maintain performance at around 88% for this
period.
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The national directive to stand down elective activity from the end of December and during
the whole of January led to an expected drop in performance across the CCG’s
commissioned providers, and has presented a further challenge of catching up with
cancelled procedures, and handling a number of 52 week breaches. However, the impact of
CCG policies, such as a reduction in low priority threshold procedures and the
implementation of a new MSK pathway, is having the effect of freeing- up theatre time and
creating capacity, which, along with other initiatives, puts the CCG’s main hospital trust in a
good position to improve performance in 2018/19.

Winter pressures
As widely reported in the national media, 2017/18 has been a challenging year for urgent
care services and especially A&E departments.
Like many other parts of the NHS nationally, local health services have experienced periods
of particularly heavy pressure over the winter months. The normally busy winter period was
intensified by high incidents of flu and winter vomiting viruses.
Emergency health services across west Hertfordshire experienced major pressures.
Throughout January and February 2018 WHHT was on a constant ‘black’ status fluctuating
between OPEL (Operational Pressures Escalation Levels) level 3 and occasionally level 4
which is the highest escalation level, signalling that external support and intervention is
needed.
In line with National Emergency Pressure Panel guidance (issued early January 2018) the
Trust cancelled all non-urgent planned surgery at Watford General Hospital until end of
January 2018 and postponed some non-urgent outpatient appointments. All planned,
routine outpatient activity was reviewed in order to prioritise the care of acutely unwell
patients.
These pressures in A&E are reflected in a continued low performance against the 4hr
standard (87.6% in April 2018). This needs to be significantly improved to achieve the
expectations of 90% by September this year.
Winter preparations started early with health and social care professionals coming together
to work out the best way of responding.
The CCG made investments to support increased capacity in general practice over the
winter months in order to give patients access to additional GP appointments as reflected in
our Primary Care section on pages 9 to 13.
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We worked with West Hertfordshire NHS Hospitals Trust to put in place measures to help
deal with the unprecedented numbers of patients attending the hospital as an emergency
and to support a good ‘flow’ of patients through the hospital. These included:


a GP working in the emergency department so that people with minor illness that could
have been treated outside of hospital were seen and treated;

a ‘queue nurse’ to help look after and speed up the transfer of patients from
ambulances to the emergency department.
We also asked our GPs to maximise the use of other services that may have been
appropriate for patients.
We also supported the national ’Stay Well This Winter’ public awareness campaign
encouraging people to use the NHS 111 phone service first if they have an urgent medical
need and to seek help from their community pharmacist at the first sign of illness.
Winter monies initiatives continue to be closely monitored to ensure there are trajectories
in place enabling successful completion of the schemes without placing continued financial
pressure on the system.

Urgent care priorities
For 2017/18 key priorities for health and social care partners in west Hertfordshire were
twofold:


improving and maintaining performance against the standard for patients to be seen,
treated and discharged from A&E within four hours;
 achieving and maintaining the delayed transfer of care (DToC) trajectory of 3.5%
To help achieve the A&E 95% constitutional standard and the 3.5% DToC target a range of
schemes were implemented by Herts Valleys CCG and our partner organisations to provide
further support for the winter period. It is the responsibility of the wider health and social
care community to plan for and deliver the necessary changes to the local system so that
performance can be maintained.
Whilst the four hour standard performance improved slightly we were unable to meet and
sustain the 95% standard for A&E waiting times.
December 2017 through to February 2018 proved to be a challenging period. WHHT worked
to implement the recommendations set out in the national emergency pressure panel
guidance which led to the cancellation of all non-urgent planned surgery at Watford General
Hospital until the end of January 2018 and some non-urgent outpatient appointments were
postponed in order to further support emergency patient flow.
There were a number of actions that we took with West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
to improve performance and the experience for patients. This included arranging quicker

37

and better access to specialist consultants such as respiratory consultants, for patients in
A&E at Watford General Hospital.
Up until 30 November 2017 there was an interim solution at West Herts Hospitals Trust with
Herts Urgent Care providing GP support for patients. We at Herts Valleys worked closely
with the GP federation to mobilise a new model of streaming in the emergency department,
and this service launched on 1 December 2017 with a GP working seven days a week (from
1pm-10pm), the aim being to reduce pressures in the minors department. To date the
number of patients seen is very low; this was a pilot that ran to March 2018, the outcome of
which determined that the current streaming model wasn’t generating the expected flow.
As a result we are carrying out a further review to consider an alternative approach which
will be more sustainable ahead of winter 2018/19.
West Herts Hospitals Trust was under significant pressure throughout winter and under NHS
England scrutiny. High rates of bed occupancy and capacity pressures in social care caused
additional pressures to build up. Underlying this is the growing number of patients who are
medically fit and ready to leave hospital but who are unable do so without extra support.
During May 2017, WHHT saw health and social care delayed transfers of care (DToC) rates
peak to a level of 12.52% of occupied beds. Herts Valleys CCG has been undertaking daily
calls with all parts of the system to proactively intervene and provide improvement on
patient flow. DToC rates have since reduced and, as at April 2018 are 5.89% for WHHT.
Throughout the year and using a range of social, print and broadcast media, we reminded
Herts Valleys’ residents of the importance of using the right service for their health
condition:






NHS 111
Community pharmacy
GP practice
Urgent Treatment Centre, Hemel Hempstead Hospital, 8am - 10pm, seven days a week
Minor Injuries Unit, St Albans City Hospital, 9am - 8pm seven days a week

Mental health standards
Over the past year we have worked with Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
and our local commissioning partners to improve services for people experiencing mental ill
health.

Increasing Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT)
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We have increased funding for psychological therapies under the improving access to
psychological therapies (IAPT) programme. In 2017/18 we expect to have treated over
12,200 people in Herts Valleys, with over 50% of people recovering. This is above the
national average for recovery rates. We have also maintained waiting times at well above
the national targets. These are that 75% of people are seen within six weeks and 95% of
people within 18 weeks. We were successful in bidding for pilot funding from NHS England
to develop an IAPT service for people with diabetes so that they are supported to manage
their mental health at the same time as their diabetes. Early small scale results are that this
has reduced the number of appointments people require with the diabetes service.
We were also successful in bidding for national funding to extend the mental health support
at Watford General Hospital to operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week. This service
went live in November 2017 and will ensure that people have access to mental health care
at whatever time of the day they require it.
In 2017/18 we increased our investment in early intervention in psychosis services so that
people experiencing a first episode of psychosis receive timely care and this is much closer
to the best practice care set out in NICE guidance than had been the case in the past. We
have exceeded the national target of 50% of people seen and starting treatment within two
weeks.
We have worked closely with public health and other partners to deliver our shared vision
to make Hertfordshire a county where no one ever gets to a point where they feel suicide is
their only option, so supporting the national ambition to reduce deaths by suicide by 10%.

Hertfordshire’s key role in Green Paper review
Hertfordshire was one of 10 places that the Care Quality Commission (CQC) visited as part of
the national thematic review into children and young people’s mental health services in
autumn 2017.
The review team, who were contributing to a new Green Paper on children and young
people’s mental health, met countless professionals from across schools, health and social
care, including children and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) providers, as well as
groups of young people, parents and carers, to hear about the changes already made and
future improvements in co-production as part of Hertfordshire’s CAMHS Transformation
programme.

Dementia diagnosis rate
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During 2017/18 we have significantly increased the number of people identified as having
dementia on GP registers and we have reached the national target that two thirds of those
estimated to have dementia are known to their GP. We will continue to work with GPs and
other partners to ensure that people with dementia are diagnosed in a timely manner and
receive good quality support and care once they have been diagnosed.

Learning disabilities
We continue to work closely with partners to improve the health of people with learning
disabilities. Over the past year this has included a drive to increase the number of GP health
checks carried out for people with learning disabilities. 64% of people with a learning
disability known to GPs received a health check in 2016/17 and we expect to increase this in
2017/18 once final numbers are known. In the past year we have started reviewing every
death of someone with a learning disability to learn lessons and see what we can do to
increase life expectancy. This is part of a national programme called LeDeR (learning
disability mortality review). We have also contributed to the Hertfordshire transforming
care partnership, working to reduce the number of people with a learning disability in
specialist hospital beds by 50% by March 2019.

Improving performance and increasing efficiency
During 2017/18 we have continued to deliver our operational plan for the two year planning
cycle 2017/19. The plan explained our focus on the delivery of national policy to achieve the
nine ‘must dos’, national NHS Constitutional standards and finance business rules during
2017/19.
We are working with the East of England cancer alliance, the west Hertfordshire local A&E
delivery board, NHS Improvement and NHS England to strengthen performance
management and the delivery processes needed to achieve these standards. Getting
performance back on track is a key priority to safeguard core NHS Constitution standards for
the local population and to accelerate the recovery trajectory for the local acute hospital so
they access in full the sustainability and transformation fund.
During 2017 we have rolled out new performance monitoring system, NELIE (North East
London information exchange) to practices and staff in the CCG. Initially this focused on
activity by our acute providers and gave us considerably more detailed and sophisticated
reports than those we had been using previously as well as useful benchmarking data.
This data will also be useful for GPs to see trends and patterns within their own practice so
that they can assess patient demand. Overall, detailed and reliable data helps us as a
commissioning organisation to monitor our expenditure more closely and effectively.
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NHS RightCare
During 2017/18 the CCG has been part of the national roll out of the NHS RightCare
programme which is designed to make best use of available resources to improve people’s
health. It supports CCGs in gathering data and evidence to compare variations in health
between CCGs with similar populations, to consider why there are differences and to look at
what needs to change to improve the way care is delivered for patients and populations.
When compared with our ten most similar CCGs, the latest commissioning for value pack
identified the following six areas where there are opportunities to improve healthcare and
increase value:
1. Circulatory problems
2. Gastroenterology
3. Musculoskeletal conditions
4. Respiratory problems
5. Mental health disorders
6. Maternity and early years.
We have already introduced new services based on these opportunities following the
pathway redesign work that started in 2016/17 and has continued during 2017/18. Further
developments will continue in 2018/19.

Circulatory problems
During 2018/19 Herts Valleys CCG will be looking to implement the referral management for
cardiology services. We will work with general practice to identify patients with
hypertension and atrial fibrillation who are at risk of heart problems and to minimise their
risk. Work will include: setting up an out of hospital cardiac service to support patients with
heart problems; ensuring patients get the most out of their medication; and reducing
duplication and improving efficiency.

Gastroenterology
Working with West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust, we have agreed to develop and
streamline clinical pathways for patients needing hernia, gallbladder and appendectomy
surgery. In addition to this we are working with clinicians to improve the pathway for
patients with IBD and Lower GI problems by telephone advice services, DXS, general
practice education & more recently Advice and Guidance that is available to all GPs. We will
be looking to launch a pilot Non Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease pathway and identifying joint
medical and surgical pathways that could be developed during 2017/18 to reduce the high
non-elective activity in gastroenterology services.
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Musculoskeletal conditions (including falls and reducing fragility fractures)
An integrated community musculoskeletal, pain and postural stability service launched in
January 2018. For more details see page 19. We are also developing a pathway around falls
as RightCare indicates there are opportunities to reduce frailty fractures and associated
spend on emergency care as well as further efficiencies in elective/planned care in areas
such as hips and knees by reducing unnecessary follow ups in hospitals.

Respiratory problems
Emergency admissions for respiratory patients have declined compared to previous years,
with practices managing patients in primary care and providing enhanced care in the
community. During 2018/19 we will do further work to integrate acute and community
respiratory services to ensure patients receive a joined up service regardless of which
organisation delivers it through more in-reach of community specialist services in the acute
and supporting early discharge.

Maternity and Early Years
In January 2017 Herts Valleys CCG, East and North Herts CCG and West Essex CCGs, and
local NHS Maternity providers established a Local Maternity System Partnership Board
(LMSPB) to lead and implement the local maternity transformation programme. The board
is aligned to the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP).
The LMSPB membership includes representatives from relevant services within local
authorities, the health visiting service, Public Health, managers for commissioning of
maternity and perinatal mental health services from the three CCGs as well as regional
representatives.
The board has developed a Maternity Transformation Plan which sets out the local
ambitions for safer, more personalised, professional and equitable maternity services across
the patch. The plan will oversee local implementation of recommendations from the
National Maternity Review (Better Births).
Each Trust has the ‘Saving Babies Lives’ Care Bundle metrics included within the quality
schedule of their contracts and is reported on via CCG contract teams. Providers also have a
Saving Babies Lives action plan and report progress to commissioners. The target of this
national program is to have the “Saving Babies Lives” Care Bundle initiated for a 100% of
women within our LMS. This is reported monthly via each Trust.
Organisations within the LMS are working together to identify common challenges in
achieving the “Saving Babies Lives” Care Bundle target of reducing the rate of stillbirth by
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50% before 2030. This has been subsequently clarified to a reduction of 10% from 2015
figures for stillbirth, neonatal deaths as well as intrapartum brain injuries by 2020.
We will exceed the planned goal of 2,000 more women receiving specialist perinatal care in
2017/18. An additional 5,000 women accessed these services between April and December
2017.

Sustainable development
As a public sector organisation responsible for spending public funds we have an obligation
to work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and
procure healthcare services. Sustainability means using public money wisely, the smart and
efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By making
the most of social, environmental and economic assets we can improve health both in the
immediate and long term even in the context of the rising cost of natural resources.
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public
health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% reduction
from a 2013 baseline by 2020.
Herts Valleys CCG’s estimated carbon footprint for this year is 199,302 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent emissions (tCO₂e). However, it should be noted that quarter 4 data used
to compile this report has been estimated, based on that recorded for quarter 4 last year.
The majority of impact is from the services that we commission. See information on
modelled carbon footprint in the full sustainability report (link below). We have set a 5%
reduction target for 2017/18 against the 2013/14 baseline calculated (see page 5 of the full
sustainability report). We have not been successful mainly due to the increasing size or the
organisation and the commuting distance for staff.
We have made significant improvements to our carbon footprint in the following areas (see
full sustainability report for details):




We have reduced our electricity and water use significantly since the 2013/14 baseline
through relocation to more modern and fuel efficient premises, consolidating the
majority of staff on one site and promoting energy and water efficiency. However, gas
usage is still considerably higher than the original baseline for 2013/14 and usage
increased for 2017/18 compared to last year. Unfortunately, as gas usage is centrally
controlled by the landlord of the premises it is difficult for us to have any significant
impact on this.
The landfill waste produced by Herts Valleys CCG staff this year has reduced slightly
compared to 2016/17.
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We saw a further reduction in the estimated staff commuting distance for 2017/2018
and the staffing numbers are relatively similar. We continue to promote alternatives to
business travel, with the introduction of videoconferencing and will also place more
emphasis on home working to reduce the staff commute.
 One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social
responsibility is through the use of the sustainable development audit tool (SDAT). The
last time we used the SDAT was in January 2018, scoring 51%.
We acknowledge that there are areas for improvement, such as a required increase in
recycling rates and further reductions in business travel and we will continue to focus
efforts on these areas. One of the ways in which an organisation can embded sustainability
is through the use of a sustainable development management plan (SDMP). The board
approved our revised SDMP in January 2016 so our plans for a sustainable future are well
known within the organisation and clearly laid out.
We also recognise that we will need effective contract mechanisms in place to ensure that
our key providers operate in a sustainable manner (as described in the Partnerships and
Commissioned Activity section of the full report). However, many of our key providers are
already demonstrating to us that they are becoming more sustainable organisations.
In addition, the implementation of Your Care, Your Future focuses on helping people to stay
healthy, rather than treating people when they are ill and providing integrated services in
local, modern hubs. We will also continue to explore any potential for reducing
pharmaceuticals waste.
Please follow this link to read our sustainability report in full.

Improving quality
We have discharged our duty to improve quality under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended 2012) by ensuring that we commission safe and high quality patient care from
appropriately accredited and regulated/approved providers.
This is enhanced through robust quality schedules and commissioning for quality and
innovation schemes (CQUINs) within contracts with all providers including newly
commissioned services and pathways as they are developed. An improved process has been
developed to scrutinise CQUIN evidence from providers to ensure quality improvements are
robust.
We monitor provider quality through regular contract and quality review meetings. We
review all provider performance reports and challenge poor performance, working
collaboratively with the providers and using contractual levers wherever necessary. We
receive and act on key quality reports such as serious incidents and ‘never events’,
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complaints and safeguarding reports in order to gain assurance in the processes, outcomes
and learning from these reports, triangulating provider data with soft data about the quality
of care, gathered through patient feedback and quality assurance visits. Through a new
serious incident panel process at the CCG WHHT has been supported to make significant
improvement in the timeliness and quality of serious incident ‘root cause analysis’
investigations.
Trust performance ratings
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust has maintained their rating of ‘good’ which they
achieved following a CQC inspection in 2016. Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation NHS
Trust were inspected by the CQC in January 2018, the results of that inspection are due later
in 2018. They are currently rated as ‘good’.
In January 2018, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) published its formal inspection report
on the outcome of an inspection of West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust in August 2017.
The report highlighted examples of good care and practice and noted a positive culture,
with staff proud to work at the Trust.
Due to the overall improved ratings, NHS Improvement announced that WHHT has been
moved out of special measures, though the Trust’s overall rating remains ‘requires
improvement'. The inspection in August 2017 demonstrated the hard work and significant
improvement, with a number of services maintaining or moving to a ‘good’ rating, as shown
below:
Service
Medical care

2015 Rating
Inadequate

Urgent and emergency services
Critical care
Maternity and family planning
End of life care

Inadequate
Inadequate
Inadequate
Requires
Improvement
Good

Children and young people
Outpatients and diagnostic
imaging
Surgery

Inadequate

2016 Rating
Requires
Improvement
Inadequate
Good
Good
Good

2017 Rating
Requires
Improvement
Inadequate
Good
Good
Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Requires
Requires
Requires
Improvement
Improvement
Improvement
CQC inspectors again highlighted that staff were found to be caring, compassionate and
kind. The report also highlighted some areas of ‘outstanding practice’ and commended the
continued improvements in mortality rates with the summary hospital mortality indicator
(SHMI) reduced from 107.4 (as expected) to 90.20 (lower than expected). WHHT’s fracture
neck of femur mortality rates have reduced from 12% to 7% over the last two years.
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During 2017/18, we have worked with WHHT to drive improvement including the following
key actions:


Focussed programme of quality visits to assess improvement and identify remaining
areas for improvement, with the outcomes shared with NHS Improvement’s oversight
group to provide additional assurance to all stakeholders
 Regular meetings between the CCG’s CCG Director of Nursing and Quality and WHHT’s
Chief Nurse meetings to offer support and discuss progress
 Monthly serious incident meetings with providers to ensure robust process and
embedding of learning resulting in improved timeliness and quality of Trust reports
 Combined contract and quality meetings to ensure quality and clinical involvement in
contract monitoring enhanced
 Enhanced quality schedule in 2017/18 contract to support areas for improvement
identified in CQC report
 Joint quality innovation productivity and prevention (QIPP) board established to align
plans for transformation
 Enhanced oversight of quality improvement plan at CCG Quality and Performance
Committee
We will continue to work with WHHT and in collaboration with NHS England and NHS
Improvement (NHSI) to build on the improvements already made and drive further
improvements through the following actions so that good quality and safe care is received
by all patients across the Trust.


Continue to monitor and challenge progress with the quality improvement plan progress
and the progress against WHHT’s quality strategy at the monthly quality review
meetings
 Continue with the programme of quality assurance visits which will be focussed on the
areas identified by the CQC as requiring improvement, with a key focus on emergency
department safety and quality, venous thromboembolism assessment and process, and
eliminating mixed sex accommodation
 Leadership of the system-wide approach to improve the performance in emergency care
Significant changes have been made within Herts Valleys CCG to ensure that quality remains
a key focus during our challenging financial times. We have established robust scrutiny of all
CCG QIPP plans and investment/disinvestment decisions, including the development and
embedding of a quality impact assessment policy for all commissioning decisions with
scrutiny and oversight at quality committee. We have also continued to revise our Equality
Impact Assessment with oversight at the quality committee.
Continuing healthcare
The continuing healthcare (CHC) service within the CCG provides assessment, review and
case management to adults found eligible for CHC who are registered with a west Herts
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GP. The team work within west Herts but also provide review and case management to
individuals placed out of area. The team are made up of specialist nurses, administrators
and placement officers. The team is led by joint heads of service who manage the clinical
and commissioning functions. The CCG quality committee have oversight of CHC delivery
and the team present a dashboard report each month setting out key priorities and updates
against work plan.
The team have dedicated personal health budget (PHB) nurses within the team and
continue to improve and expand our offer of PHB to support more individuals with support
planning and personalisation throughout 2018/19.
The team provide training, peer support and supervision to our system wide partners as well
as providing in reach to in patient areas and case management support when required.
Over the last year the CHC service has delivered an extensive improvement plan and
developed a standard operating procedure. Our aspirations for 2018/19 are to build on the
collaborative working with social care and support system wide innovation for providing
NHS funded care including working more closely with hospices, end of life teams, the
hospital teams and the community nursing services.
Integrated personal commissioning
Integrated personal commissioning (IPC) is an ambitious programme that seeks to
systematically harness the potential of people needing support and their families, to be
active co-producers of that support. Central to IPC is the integration of health, social care
and the voluntary sector to pull together the resources available to people, and to work
with people to understand and plan how best to use these.
Herts Valleys CCG formally joined the IPC programme in November 2016 in partnership with
East and North Herts CCG (ENHCCG) and Hertfordshire County Council (HCC). Hertfordshire
were asked to continue the programme for 2017/18 in July 2017. It is testament to the
programme successes to date that NHS England have invited Hertfordshire to continue the
programme for a further year.
During 2017 the IPC programme successfully bid to be supported by external facilitators for
a 100 day challenge, which has been completed. Following this there are now champions
across the system (HCC, HCT, HPFT, voluntary sector) of personalised practice, the
importance of integrated support planning and the practical knowledge of multidisciplinary
working, the time commitment to undertake this work and the tools needed for
implementation.
Infection control
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We were also pleased to see that at the end of the year the rate of C. difficile in west
Hertfordshire at 22.14 per 100,000 population remains 1.27 below the cumulative rate for
East of England and 1.89 below the cumulative rate for England. This reflects the good
infection control practices within NHS and private care providers locally.
As we move into 2018/19, we are continuing to enhance the oversight of quality and safety
in west Hertfordshire.
Quality of general practice
Overall, the quality of general practice in west Hertfordshire is very good, and this has been
reflected in our Care Quality Commission (CQC) ratings. All but two of Herts Valleys
practices have been visited by the CQC. Of these one has been rated ‘outstanding’, 64
practices have been rated as ‘good’, and one practice ‘requires improvement’. The
remaining two visits are due to be completed in early 2018/19. These results are also
reflected in the outcome of the national GP patient survey. In July 2017 ranked GP practices
in the Herts Valleys are as 29th of 209 CCGs nationally. Herts Valleys CCG is the highest
performing in NHS England Central Midlands region. This is a ten place improvement in the
ranking from January 2016.

Safeguarding our vulnerable residents
We work alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent all forms of abuse and
neglect so that everyone is able to make a full and positive contribution to society in our
area.
Safeguarding adults
Our Director of Nursing and Quality is a member of the Hertfordshire safeguarding adult
board (HSAB) This means we can make sure that we work with partners to constantly
improve the outcomes for adults at risk across Hertfordshire.
This year, in addition to providing training to GPs and practice nurses on adult safeguarding,
we developed a statement on modern slavery, we provided evidence to two health scrutiny
topic groups on self-neglect and domestic abuse, we organised a ‘train the trainer’ prevent
workshop for key health staff to increase the level of knowledge across the health economy.
We lead the development and implementation of a new safety and improvement process
with the focus on activities to prevent abuse and neglect and quality assurance.
In 2018/19 we have a number of work streams to deliver including training, supporting the
HSAB in the assurance visits to partner agencies and chairing Hertfordshire’s domestic
homicide review sub group where we will be working with partners to identify and
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implement learning from domestic homicide reviews and will work with a number of other
groups and panels to ensure that we play an active role in protecting adults at risk of harm.
Safeguarding children
Children have the right to be protected from being hurt and neglected, physically or
emotionally, and to be enabled to develop as healthy individuals. Safeguarding children is a
priority for us and there is a sustained commitment to minimising the risk of physical, sexual
or emotional harm to all children and young people in Hertfordshire.
Designated safeguarding children professionals will continue to offer assurance to the CCG
that commissioned services have measures in place to safeguard and protect children at risk
of harm. This is achieved through analysis of contracts, ensuring appropriate provider
service training, review of processes and policy, quarterly dashboard monitoring,
attendance at provider safeguarding committees, constructive challenge and supervision of
named professionals. There are robust systems in place to ensure all provider health
organisations are fully compliant with Section 11 of the Children Act (2004), including
scrutiny through action planning, audit scheduling and quality meeting reporting.
The CCG is a committed partner in the Hertfordshire safeguarding children board (HSCB),
which is regularly attended by the Director of Nursing and Quality and designated
professionals. Designated professionals also sit on the HSCB’s sub-groups, which monitor
and evaluate the effectiveness of local organisations to individually and collectively
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.
Key achievements in 2017/18










Launched of a number of multi-agency work streams that will ultimately lead to the
development of safe, robust and high quality safeguarding related practice across all
partner agencies in Hertfordshire.
Ongoing work in relation to serious case review actions and subsequent
development of new protocols where needed, to ensure safe and effective
safeguarding practice.
Development of a multi-agency female genital mutilation care pathway for
Hertfordshire.
Development of a multi-agency neglect protocol across Hertfordshire and information
leaflet for multi-agency use.
A broad training programme for primary care professionals including female genital
mutilation (FGM), honour-based violence, forced marriage, prevent, child sexual
exploitation, domestic abuse and leadership in safeguarding.
Development and implementation of care pathways for LAC and Care Leavers.
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Review of safeguarding supervision across Hertfordshire, following recommendations
from a Serious Case Review. A Safeguarding Supervision Strategy is awaiting
ratification.

Current safeguarding children practice includes timely completion of Section 11 monitoring
of provider health services and formulation of provider auditing schedules so that we can
review progress and compliance with CCG recommendations, made during the Section 11
visit. The team will continue to work in collaboration with partner agencies and the HSCB to
advance the development of a number of work streams, with an aim to improve care and
practice for children and young people in Hertfordshire. Support for primary care will be
supported by the designated team through formal and bespoke training, specialist advice
and support. A number of primary care training conferences, in collaboration with the LMC,
are planned for 2018, with educational content based on identified need and informed by
serious case review recommendations. Partnership working with the local authority will
ensure high quality care for looked after children through innovative projects such as the ‘be
healthy’ initiative as well as offering support with commissioning and service delivery. Two
serious case reviews (SCRs) are in progress with a further being considered presently. The
designated nurse will maintain an oversight of the reviews through attendance at SCR panel
meetings.

Engaging people and communities
Involving patients and the public in what we do
We involve the public in planning, decision-making and proposals for change that will
impact on individual or groups and how health services are provided to them. We invite
people to work with us in a number of different ways including receiving our newsletters,
attending events, becoming a patient representative on a committee or representing their
local area and networks as a member of our PPI Committee. This committee reports directly
to our board. We are updating and reviewing our participation plan during the coming year
and this will be done in partnership with our PPI Committee and involving local people.

Patient and Public Involvement Committee
The role of our PPI Committee is to provide assurance to our board that there is meaningful
participation in the business of the organisation from patients, carers, families and members
of the public across the locality. Its role also includes the review of strategies and proposals
to offer views from patients' perspectives
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The committee is made up of two patient representatives from each of our four localities, a
Healthwatch Hertfordshire representative, and it is chaired by our lay representative with
responsibility for PPI. A patient member of the committee also sits on our board as a patient
delegate. The Herts Valleys CCG patient representative to the board stood down at the end
of the year following a very successful period of four years and we appointed two new
patient representatives to replace her.
The PPI Committee, over the year, has: discussed all consultation proposals, prior to launch,
to input into and influence plans for communications and engagement and the proposals
themselves; they have received regular updates on service redesign and procurement with
an opportunity to find out and question patient involvement in the process; they bring
feedback and updates from and to their locality networks to enhance communication with
local people and groups.
The proposals have included our ‘Let’s Talk’ consultation where the PPI committee
supported and helped to facilitate public meetings, ensuring that local people had an
opportunity to participate.

Let’s Talk
Our Let’s Talk consultation, coordinated with East and North Herts CCG, saw a
comprehensive 12 week programme of engagement with residents and other interested
groups. Our aim was to raise awareness among local people of the financial challenges
facing the NHS and to engage in a conversation about the best use of resources, gathering
views on specific proposals.
Proposals were informed by an online questionnaire earlier in the year which sought to
better understand local people’s priorities.
We used a range of channels to broaden our engagement across Herts:




Eleven public meeting events at which proposals were presented and those attending
had the opportunity to exchange views. Some meetings attracted around 100 people
and some were independently facilitated by Healthwatch Herts.
Information points in local hospitals, sports facilities, market places, libraries where we
handed out information and spoke directly to members of the public



The CCG attended community events such as Herts Pride, AGMs, conferences, carers’
‘hubs’ and Hertfordshire health walks to raise awareness and encourage involvement



We held sessions for patient groups and representatives and special interest and
community groups and spoke to patients in GP surgery waiting areas. A number of
practices also sent texts to their patients which included links to the survey.
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We used a range of other channels to promote the consultation including local
newspapers, social media, partner networks, GP surgery screens and an advert in the
Herts County Council ‘Horizon’ magazine which is distributed to all households.



In all we spoke directly to around 2,200 people locally and raised awareness among
many thousands. Of the 2,600 completed surveys 54% were from west Hertfordshire
residents. We consulted with an external professional body about the
representativeness of this consultation and were told that the response rate and
engagement were higher than would normally be expected in these types of public
consultation.
More information about ‘Let’s Talk’, including the proposals, consultation results and the
outcomes can be found on page 25.

Health and Wellbeing Ambassadors
This year we have worked with a group of patient representatives to develop a role within
the CCG for health and wellbeing ambassadors. This role supports engagement on local and
national NHS consultations and campaigns such as Let’s Talk and Stay Well This Winter
(SWTW). During our pilot phase our current eight ambassadors have helped to identify,
within their local communities, opportunities to promote the consultations and campaigns
and use their local networks to encourage participation. They also take the opportunity to
feedback any issues or concerns on current health care.
Ambassadors have linked into numerous networks, previously untapped, such as dementia
cafes (as participants and volunteers), home care staff, leisure centres, health walks –
sharing information, raising awareness and people to get involved. We are reviewing this
programme, considering any lessons learnt, to develop it further and recruit more members
from our patient networks and the wider community so that we can engage better with all
our local communities.

PPI development sessions
We know that the NHS with its many strands – is complicated and often difficult for local
people to understand. We also know that people would often like to get involved but are
unsure how to get started, so we regularly hold informal ‘Introduction to your NHS’ sessions
designed to give a step-by-step guide to the workings of the NHS together with an
opportunity to find out all the ways people can get involved
We have regular development sessions which are well attended by patient representatives
and practice participation group members, on average between 50 – 70 people. These
enable patients to become better informed about the NHS and its services and to become
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stronger influences within their own networks by increasing knowledge and confidence.
Over the year the network has discussed: social prescribing, with an emphasis on how PPGs
can influence this within practices; urgent care; community services review; and NHS
spending survey, particularly reviewing communication and engagement plans whilst being
able to input into proposals.
At these sessions we provide a context to proposals – both national and local – such as
finance position so that patients can make an informed contribution and also commissioning
colleagues can hear, first hand, the patient perspective and incorporate into planning.

GP practice participation group (PPG) network
Working with our PPI Committee we have established a PPG network which meets regularly
to broaden our engagement and establish communication channels with the ever increasing
number of local people who are involved with their GP surgery. The network currently has
an ever- growing patient and practice staff membership of over 160 and the network
responds to the needs and suggestions of PPGs who have influence agendas. The network
were also instrumental in the formation of a social network Yammer site with over 130
members to share information, good practice and support the development of active
groups. We have shared information on consultations on the site, such as the future of the
urgent treatment centre and GP services at Hemel Hempstead – and recorded the
discussions on the yammer site to input into the analysis.

Pathway redesign and procurement
We routinely involve patients in the procurement and re-design of services. We ask that
they bring the patient perspective to discussions and these are incorporated into plans with
views and information from other stakeholders.
We know that procurement processes are time-consuming and complex for patients, so to
help inform them we have held an information session for patients to be taken through the
process, including what is expected from patient representatives, conflict of interests and
time commitment. Following that session we now have patient reps on the procurement
process for vasectomy, nutrition and dietetics, ENT, Ophthalmology, GP Direct Access
Ultrasound services and adult community services. Patient reps form part of the
procurement working group and input into service specifications, market engagement and
evaluation.
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‘Let’s get connected’
We have held a programme of events: ‘Community support: let’s get connected’. These are
to bring together members of GP Practice patient groups (PPGs) with representatives from a
range of community support groups to discuss ways that these groups might work together
to:
1. Raise awareness of local support groups and the range of support on offer
2. Discuss ways of how support groups can encourage their members / clients to input into
patient groups and influence the way that local health care is provided.
At these events we have market stalls and verbally introduce the work of local groups to
build up the knowledge within PPGs and to encourage the social prescribing model, so that
PPG members feel able to signpost to support organisations and networks. These events
have helped the implementation of social prescribing by PPGs, enabled the groups to link
with their local community and encouraged people to join PPGs and influence the way their
practice delivers services.

Reader panel
Our 40+ strong reader panel continues to help in the development of written patient
information from the CCG and other organisations. Made up of patients, carers, community
members and other stakeholders the panel provide a view on whether information is easy
to understand, accessible and free from jargon. Examples of where the panel have provided
feedback include: patient information on changes to the availability of over-the-counter
medication on prescription; leg ulcer poster and leaflet; and hospital discharge pack. A
group of patients also worked with the CCG team on the writing and production of the ‘let’s
talk’ consultation document. In all these cases, feedback from patients resulted in
considerable changes to the published documents.

Engaging with local authority partners
Senior representatives from Herts Valleys CCG have actively engaged with the democratic
process of local authorities through council meetings, scrutiny committees and meetings of
health and wellbeing boards. This engagement is ongoing and wide ranging covering areas
including Your Care, Your Future proposals, ‘Let’s Talk’ consultation, Nascot Lawn respite
services and our financial plans.
We have held regular meetings with Hertfordshire County Council health scrutiny officers to
discuss a number of issues including ‘Let’s Talk’ and our urgent care consultation.
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We are always looking for more people to get involved and ask them to contact us to find
out more: www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk or email heather.aylward@nhs.net

Reducing health inequalities
A key challenge for Herts Valleys CCG is ensuring all our local communities experience
equitable health outcomes across our population. We continuously monitor and analyse the
impact of our policies and programmes on different ‘protected’ groups in the community
and carry out evidence-based service reviews. As an organisation we work with partners
including Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board and the Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership to address the wider determinants of health.
When redesigning and developing new services our aim is to improve health outcomes and
the experiences of patients, carers, communities and the workforce through effective and
efficient commissioning, partnership working and good governance. (See section on
‘developing patient-focused services’ pages 16 to 20.) In order to fully understand the needs
of our population an analysis is undertaken supported by joint strategic needs assessment
(JSNA) data and a gap analysis of current service provision and where possible qualitative
data from service users and providers. As part of this process inequalities are identified and
addressed in both the associated business case and service specification which includes the
outcomes needed to be achieved in order to reduce inequalities.
We develop new and redesigned services by evaluating best practice models. Equality and
quality impact assessments (EQIAs) are undertaken as part of the development of business
cases for services and these inform the discussions and the decision making process.
Herts Valleys CCG introduced a new outcomes based GP enhanced commissioning
framework for general practice from 2017/18 onwards. This supported the expansion of
primary care services, to ensure that all patients had access to a broad range of high quality
primary care services – improving equity across the patch - and helped to enhance general
practice by developing and encouraging partnership working to deliver improvements in
clinical outcomes for patients. (See section on transforming primary care and localities)
Against the 17/18 improvement and assessment framework (IAF) indicators, Herts Valleys
CCG ranked as ‘good’ for cancer, mental health and dementia; only diabetes was ranked as
’requires improvement’.
Work has been carried out to increase the availability of extended access services to local
people, for every day of the year. In 2017, 33% of the CCG population benefitted from such
services and by April 2018 this was 52.5%. The CCG is on target to achieve the national
target of 100% by October 2018.
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In August 2015 we commissioned a service from general practice to deliver a proactive and
preventative approach to patient care. The aim is to improve health outcomes and support
patients to self-manage their long term conditions including atrial fibrillation, COPD, asthma
and diabetes. A key aspect of this service is to actively identify high-risk patients, using
innovative methods to engage with hard to reach groups.
2015/16

2016/17

2017/18*

1925

1299

2844

1816

953

1057

9396

4933

8973

Total number of patients attending
appointment for test for AF (pulse check
and ECG if pulse irregular)
Total number of new patients attending
appointment for tests for COPD
Total number of new patients attending
appointment for fasting glucose or
HBA1c
* data for 2017/18 is still provisional

At the end of 2016, 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring was decommissioned
from secondary care and established in GP practices. In 2017/18 this was extended until all
GP practices were covered. In 2017 the CCG was successful in a bid for funding of mobile
ECG devices. These will be used in a variety of primary care settings to detect paroxysmal
atrial fibrillation and are currently being rolled out.
There is a growing body of evidence nationally of the vulnerability of carers’ health and their
social isolation. Through a carers’ local incentive scheme, there has been increased
identification of carers and referrals on to sources of support outside the NHS, particularly
Carers in Hertfordshire.
Work has been carried out to increase seasonal flu vaccinations and health check uptake
amongst those with learning disability. In 2017/18, 48 practices with EMIS Enterprise clinical
system achieved a 75% uptake for health checks and seasonal influenza vaccination rates of
33% for 0-17 year olds and 58% for those over 18 years, with learning disability. (The data is
currently pending for the remaining practices in Herts Valleys CCG).

Health and wellbeing strategy
Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board
We are a member of Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board. This brings together the
NHS, public health, adult social care and children’s services, including elected
representatives and Healthwatch Hertfordshire, to plan how best to meet the needs of
Hertfordshire’s population and tackle local inequalities in health.
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The board signed off its refreshed joint Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy at its
public meeting on 14 June 2016. View the strategy here.
The Health and Wellbeing Board has agreed the following principles:


Aim to keep people safe and reduce inequalities in health, attainment and wellbeing
outcomes



Use public health evidence, other comparison information and Hertfordshire citizens’
views to make sure that we focus on the most significant health and wellbeing needs in
Hertfordshire.



Centre our strategies on people, their families and carers, providing services universally
but giving priority to the most vulnerable.



Focus on preventative approaches – helping people and communities to support each
other and prevent problems from occurring for individuals and families in the future.



Always consider what we can do better together – focussing our efforts on adding value
as partners to maximise the benefits for the public.



Encourage opportunities to integrate our services to improve outcomes and value for
taxpayers.

In accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012, a number of important matters
included in this annual report have been presented and discussed as agenda items at Health
and Wellbeing Board meetings throughout the year.
At a local level our Your Care, Your Future strategy fully embraces Hertfordshire’s Health and
Wellbeing Board’s vision of ‘with all partners working together we aim to reduce health
inequalities and improve the health and wellbeing of people in Hertfordshire’.
Your Care, Your Future has contributes to each of the above principles and will continue to
do so as the Health and Wellbeing Board’s strategy is delivered across four life themes:





Starting well
Developing well
Living well and
Working well and ageing well

Each of the strategy's four life stages has goals with performance and outcome measures
attached. The board receives updates on progress against the outcome measures. The
Health and Wellbeing Strategy and performance dashboards, which are reviewed quarterly,
can be seen here. The refreshed priorities for 2016/2020 are as follows:
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
Summary
The Accountability Report addresses the three key elements of:
(i)
Corporate Governance Report
(ii)
Remuneration and Staff Report
(iii)
Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
Under each section the Accountability Report details how the CCG meets the entity’s
responsibility to ensure that it provides full accountability through the adoption of best
practices in line with corporate governance norms and codes.

Members’ report
Member practices
Following a merger of Rothschild Surgery and Markyate Surgery on 1st October 2017, there
are now 67 member practices in Herts Valleys CCG.
The member practices are arranged into the four localities of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St
Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a Locality
Committee which is made up of representatives from member practices. The Locality
Committees provide our board with advice and is informed by CCG members within each
locality whilst recognising the importance of local knowledge and expertise to allow the CCG
to discharge its functions successfully. The Locality Committees are jointly accountable to
member practices and linked with each locality and the board.
Our Member practices are:
Dacorum practices (19)
 Archway Surgery
 Bennetts End Surgery
 Boxwell Road Surgery
 Coleridge House Medical Centre
 Everest House Surgery
 Fernville Surgery
 Gossoms End Surgery
 Grovehill Medical Centre
 Haverfield Surgery

Hertsmere practices (9)
 Annandale Surgery
 Fairbrook Medical Centre
 Grove Medical Centre
 Highview Medical Centre
 Little Bushey Surgery
 Parkfield Medical Centre
 Red House Group
 Schopwick Surgery
 Theobald Medical Centre
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Highfield Surgery
Kings Langley and Bovingdon Surgeries
Lincoln House Surgery
Manor Street Surgery
Markyate Surgery
Milton House Surgery
New Surgery
Parkwood Surgery
Rothschild House Surgery
(Markyate surgery merged into
Rothschild House Surgery on 1st October)
 West Herts Medical Centre
 Woodhall Farm Medical Centre
St Albans and Harpenden practices (13)
Watford and Three Rivers practices (26)
 Davenport House Surgery
 Abbotswood Medical Centre
 Dr Sinha, 61 Hatfield Road
 Attenborough Surgery
 Elms Medical Practice
 Baldwins Lane Surgery
 Grange Street Surgery
 Callowland Surgery
 Harvey Group Practice
 Cassio Surgery – Dr Watson
 Health Centre, Redbourn
 Cassio Surgery – Dr Gujral
 Lattimore Surgery
 Cassio Surgery – Dr Robson
 Lodge Surgery
 Cassio Surgery – Dr Reuben
 Maltings Surgery
 Chorleywood Health Centre
 Midway Surgery
 Coach House Surgery
 Parkbury House
 Colne House Surgery
 Verulam Medical Group
 Consulting Rooms
 Village Surgery
 Elms Surgery
 Gade Surgery
 Garston Medical Centre
 Health Inclusion Matters (Meadowell)
 Manor View Practice
 New Road Surgery
 Park End Surgery
 Pathfinder Practice
 Sheepcot Medical Centre
 South Oxhey Surgery
 Suthergrey House Medical Centre
 Tudor Surgery
 Upton Road Surgery
 Vine House Health Centre

Governing body (board) composition
There are sixteen members of the CCG board:
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Two general practitioners from each of the four locality areas, one of whom is the Chair
of the CCG and one of whom is the deputy clinical chair.
 Four lay members, one of whom is the appointed Deputy Chair of the CCG. Among these
members, one has responsibility for governance matters and one for public and patient
participation.
 A Secondary Care Specialist Doctor
 Three Executive members: the Chief Executive Officer (Accountable Officer), the Chief
Finance Officer and the Director of Nursing and Quality.
The Director of Health and Community Services, Hertfordshire County Council was a voting
member of the board from 1 June to 30 November 2017.
Also in attendance at Board meetings, without voting rights, were the Head of Corporate
Governance, Medical Director, Associate Director of Communications and Engagement,
Director of Workforce, Director of Programmes/Commissioning, Director of Contracting and
Resilience (until 31 July 2017), patient representative to the board, a representative of
Healthwatch Hertfordshire and a representative from Hertfordshire County Council.

Appointment and roles
The names and roles of board members are as follows:















Chair – Nicolas Small (GP Hertsmere) (elected to 31 March 2020)
Deputy Chair, Lay Member – Stuart Bloom, (Quality and Performance Committee Chair
to 31 May 2017, Quality Committee Chair from 1 June 2018) (appointed for a four year
period to 31 March 2017, renewed to 31 March 2019)
Lay Member – Paul Smith (Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee Chair and
Finance and Performance Committee Chair)
(appointed for a four year period to 31 March 2017, renewed to 31 March 2019)
Lay Member – Alison Gardner (Patient and Public Involvement Committee Chair)
appointed for a four period to 31 March 2017, renewed to 31 March 2019)
Lay Member – Thelma Stober (Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning
Committee Chair) (appointed 1 August 2015 for a four year term to 31 March 2019)
Secondary Care Consultant – Thida Win (appointed 1 June 2016 for a four year term to
31 May 2019)
Deputy Lead Clinician -–Trevor Fernandes GP Elected Member (Dacorum) (until 31
March 2020)
GP Elected Member- Mike Edwards (Hertsmere) (until 31 March 2018)
GP Elected Member - Mike Walton (St Albans and Harpenden) (until 31 March 2018)
GP Elected Member - Clair Moring (Watford and Three Rivers) (until 31 March 2018)
GP Elected Member - Richard Pile (St Albans and Harpenden) (until 31 March 2020)
GP Elected Member - Rami Eliad (Watford and Three Rivers) (until 31 March 2020)
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GP Elected Member – Corina Ciobanu (Dacorum) (appointed 1 July 2017, re-appointed
effective 1 April 2018 until 31 March 2022)
Chief Executive Officer – Kathryn Magson, Executive Board Member
Chief Finance Officer – Caroline Hall, Executive Board Member
Director of Nursing and Quality – Diane Curbishley, Executive Board Member.
Additionally appointed Deputy Chief Executive Officer effective 1 January 2018.
Herts County Council Member – Iain McBeath (appointed 1 June 2017, resigned 30
November 2017)

Board meeting in public attendances 2017/18
Members

Nicolas Small GP Member (Chair)
Stuart Bloom, Lay Member (Deputy Chair)
Trevor Fernandes, GP Member (Deputy
Clinical Chair),
Corina Ciobanu, GP Member (from 1 July
2017)
Diane Curbishley1, Director of Nursing and
Quality
Rami Eliad, GP Member
Mike Edwards, GP Member
Alison Gardner, Lay Member
Caroline Hall2, Chief Finance Officer
Kathryn Magson, Chief Executive Officer
Clair Moring, GP Member
Richard Pile, GP Member
Paul Smith, Lay Member
Thelma Stober, Lay Member
Mike Walton, GP Member
Thida Win, Secondary Care Consultant

Number of Meetings

Number attended

7
7
7

7
5
7

4

3

7

7

7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7
7

5
6
7
7
7
6
6
6
5
6
5

Committee(s), including Audit Committee
Herts Valleys CCG has revised its governance structure and arrangements in response to
Capacity and Capability and Governance reviews in the early part of 2017.
The highest level governance structure comprises a governing body (known as “the board”),
seven board committees, three of which are required by statute (Audit, Remuneration and
1

Represented by Deputy Director Nursing and Quality for meetings: 9/11/17, 18/1/19 and 8/3/18
Represented by Interim Deputy Chief Finance Officer on 15/06/17 and Deputy Chief Finance Officer on
08/03/18

2
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Primary Care Commissioning committees) and four which have been put in place by the CCG
as standing committees. These are
 Quality;
 Finance and Performance;
 Patient and Public Involvement; and
 Commissioning Executive.
Additionally there is an executive management team which meets bi-weekly to oversee the
operational aspects of the CCG business, and a financial turnaround team which also meets
bi-weekly to monitor the implementation and delivery of the CCG’s transformation
programme.
All committees of the board will make regular reports to the board, to include:
 Key assurances received
 Decisions taken
 Areas of escalation to the board
The board structure included:
1 April to 31 May 2017:







Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committee
Quality and Performance Committee
Investment Committee
Patient and Public Involvement Committee

1 June 2017 to 31 March 2018:








Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committee
Quality Committee
Finance and Performance Committee
Patient and Public Involvement Committee
Commissioning Executive Committee.
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Register of interests
All registers of interest can be found at the following address
http://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/managing-conflicts-of-interest

Personal data related incidents
There has been one personal data incident reported to the information commissioner in
2017/18.

Auditor disclosures
Each individual who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is approved
confirms:



so far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit report
the member has taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken in order to make
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the CCG’s
auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
Herts Valleys CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern slavery
and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual Slavery
and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
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Governance Statement
Introduction and context
Herts Valleys CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended 2012).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended 2012). The CCG’s general function is arranging
the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England.
The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health services
to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local
population.
As at 1 April 2017, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any directions
from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended 2012).

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies,
aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in
Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended 2012) and in my clinical commissioning
group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered
prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively,
safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical commissioning
group as set out in this governance statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the board is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
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The board has delegated authority from member practices to undertake the full range of
functions required of the CCG. The member practices (listed in the Members’ report) meet
at least twice a year at the GP Forum and receive feedback from the board and are able to
raise questions of board members. There are also a number of decisions that have been
reserved to the members and these include: changes to the CCG Constitution, for example,
to reflect changes in statutory guidance for conflicts of interest and the move to delegated
primary care commissioning; electing GP members of the board.
The board’s focus is on setting vision and strategy, approving commissioning plans and on
corporate and financial governance and risk management. It also ensures that the CCG
meets its statutory and regulatory requirements and operates in line with its approved
constitution (NHS England is the body with ultimate responsibility for approving the CCG’s
constitution and any changes that the CCG proposes to it). Key functions of the board
covered in the Constitution are:
a. Ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically and in accordance with the principles of good
governance;
b. Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees, office
holders or other persons providing services to the CCG;
c. Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations.

A record of board meeting attendance can be found in the Members’ Report.
Highlights of the work of the CCG board during the year and key decisions taken are as
follows:










Development of CCG strategic objectives and key risks to achievement;
Approval of the CCG improvement plan and revised financial governance measures;
Oversight of the public consultation: Let’s Talk
Approval of delegated authority to members in attendance of the East and North Herts
and Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Groups’ Joint Committee to approve proposals
for service changes following completion of the “Healthier Future Let’s Talk”
consultation programme;
Supported the recommendations as outlined in the West Hertfordshire Hospitals Trust
Strategic Outline Case by taking options 10 and 12-14 through to Outline Business Case
stage;
Approval of a competitive dialogue procurement approach for provision of adult
community services;
Approval of the contract award for musculoskeletal, pain management and postural
stability services to Connect Physical Health Centres Ltd;
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Approval of the contract award up to 31 March 2019 to WHHT as lead provider for the
Herts Valleys integrated diabetes service;
Approval of a contract variation for a period of 16 months to Hertfordshire Community
NHS Trust and DHP Ltd for the new core and enhanced integrated community nursing
and therapy services;
Ratification of the Chair and Chief Executive decision on behalf of the board to award a 3
year contract to East of England Ambulance Service Trust for Non-Emergency Patient
Transport;
Approval of the following key officers for 2018/19:
 Chair – Nicolas Small
 Deputy Chair – Stuart Bloom
 Deputy Clinical Chair – Trevor Fernandes.

Audit Committee
The audit committee functions primarily as an assurance committee. The key elements of
its remit are as follows:
 Governance, risk management and internal control
 Internal Audit
 External audit
 Whistle blowing and counter fraud
 Financial reporting
The audit committee supports the board to discharge its functions relating to economy,
efficiency and effectiveness, and governance. The committee reviews the systems of
governance, risk management and internal control.
The audit committee provides the board with an independent and objective view of
financial systems, financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and
directions relating to finance, and maintenance of an effective system of governance, risk
management and internal control. The committee does this with the input and support of
internal and external auditors.
The audit committee does not allow deputies to attend meetings on behalf of committee
members.
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Audit Committee attendance
Members
Paul Smith (Chair of Committee)
Lay member
Stuart Bloom
Lay member
Mike Edwards
GP board Member
Rami Eilad
GP board member
Alison Gardner
Lay member
Richard Pile
GP board member

01 April 2017 to 31 March 2018[1]
Number of Meetings
5

Number attended
5

5

4

2

2

5

2

5

4

3

0

Standing items for the committee are:







Review of register of gifts and hospitality
Review of decision register
Internal audit plan
Review of internal audit progress report
Internal audit annual report
Review of internal audit report recommendations tracker including applications to
extend deadlines
 Review of bad debt write offs, tender waivers, losses and compensations
 Review of board assurance framework and risk reports
 In depth risk reviews as required
 External audit plan
 Review of external audit progress report
 External audit completion report and recommendations
Key decisions taken by the audit committee in 2017/18 have included:



Committee agreed for the CEO to sign and submit the annual report and accounts.
The committee approved the detailed financial policies.

Remuneration Committee
The role of the remuneration committee is to ensure that the CCG recruits, retains and
develops a strong leadership team capable of achieving its objectives and performance.

[1]

Change of GP membership from Mike Edwards to Richard Pile
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The committee reviews board and very senior manager objectives, performance assessment
and personal development and has oversight of succession planning and senior staff pay
and contractual arrangements.
The committee has delegated responsibility for:


Determining the remuneration and terms and conditions of service including but not
limited to fees and other allowances for board and very senior employees and for
people who provide services to the CCG (including GPs involved in the work of the
CCG).
 Determining allowances under any pension scheme that the CCG may establish as an
alternative to the NHS pension scheme;
 Evaluating the balance and skills, knowledge and experience on the board and
prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for any board vacancies.
 Determining procedural arrangements for termination of employment in line with
legislation and regulatory requirements.
The remuneration committee does not allow deputies to attend meetings on behalf of
committee members, with the exception of the GP member.

Remuneration Committee attendance 01 April 2017 to 31 March 2018
Members
Paul Smith (Committee Chair)
Lay Member
Thelma Stober
Lay Member
Mike Edwards
GP Board Member
Richard Pile
GP Board Member
Trevor Fernandes attended for
Richard Pile on 23 June
GP Board Member

Number of Meetings
5

Number attended
5

5

5

2

1

3

1

1

1

Key areas of focus for the remuneration committee in 2017/18 have included:







Approval of business cases for a number of key senior posts.
Approval of changes to financial reimbursement for clinicians undertaking CCG work.
Changes in the senior leadership team.
Consideration of chair remuneration.
Changes to the on call structure.
Review of off payroll payments.
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Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committee
Herts Valleys took on delegated commissioning of primary care services from NHS England
effective from 1 April 2017.
The primary care (medical services) commissioning committee functions both as an
assurance committee and as a decision making committee. The key elements of its remit
are as follows:










Carrying out NHS England statutory function of commissioning Primary Medical
Services (GP) contracts
General Medical Service (GMS), and Alternative Provider of Medical Services (APMS)
contracts (including the design APMS contracts, including commercial procurement,
monitoring of contracts, taking contractual action such as issuing breach/remedial
notices, and removing a contract, commercial procurements )
Newly designed enhanced services (“Local Enhanced Services” and “Directed
Enhanced Services”)
Decision making on whether to establish new GP practices in an area
Approving practice mergers and closures (temporary and permanent)
Making decisions on ‘discretionary’ payment (e.g. returner/retainer schemes)
Enabling and supporting transformational change in primary care medical services.
Decision making on practice premises.

Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committee attendance 01 April 2017 to 31
March 2018
Members
Thelma Stober (Committee
Chair)
Lay Member
David Buckle
Medical Director
Diane Curbishley
Director of Quality and Nursing
Mike Edwards
Board GP Member
Trevor Fernandes
Board GP Member
Deputy Clinical Chair
Alison Gardner
Lay Member
Caroline Hall
Chief Finance Officer
Kathryn Magson
1
2

Number of Meetings
7

Number attended
6

7

7

7

6

5

5

7

7

7

6

7

612

7

5

Interim Deputy Chief Finance Officer attended meeting on 21.09.17
Deputy Chief Finance Officer attended meeting on 08.02.18
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Chief Executive Officer
Clair Moring
Board GP Member
Richard Pile
Board GP Member
Mike Walton
Board GP Member

5

4

2

2

2

1

Key areas of focus and decisions made at the Primary Care (Medical Services)
Commissioning Committee in 2017/18 have included:








Implementation of the national GP Forward View (GPFV) plan, this includes the
implementation of national priorities e.g. developing locality models to provide
extended access to GP appointments from March 2018. The 10 high impact changes
to support general practice e.g. a CCG wide training programme for general practices
staff.
Establishment of a Primary Care Commissioning Panel (PCCP) to oversee practices’
contractual requests e.g. mergers, list closure applications
Establishment of General Practice Resilience Panel to consider and approve
discretionary funding applications
Localities Prioritisation Framework (LPF) and Local Enhanced Commissioning
Framework for General Practice for services provided by GP practices
Ratified the decisions made by the Herts Medicines Management Committee
(HMMC).
Ratified the recommendations of the medicines optimisation clinical leads (MOCL).

Quality and Performance Committee
The role of the quality and performance committee is to oversee the integrated governance
arrangements for the effective discharge of the CCG’s functions with particular focus on
quality, performance and finance. The committee has delegated responsibility for assuring
the board in relation to the following:











Contract Performance;
Risk Management;
Quality, Clinical Effectiveness and Health Improvement;
Information Governance and Freedom of Information Act;
Patient Safety and Experience;
Equality and Diversity;
Serious Incidents, Complaints and PALS;
Infection Control;
Health and Safety;
Human Resources and Organisational Development;
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 Safeguarding;
 Finance;
 Clinical Programmes.
The quality and performance committee allows deputies to attend meetings on behalf of
executive director members.
The quality and performance committee ceased to be a committee of the board following
the capability and capacity and governance reviews and was replaced by two committees:
the quality committee and the finance and performance committee.

Investment committee - 1 April 2017-31 May 2017
In response to the CCG being formally placed in financial turnaround, the investment
committee was approved by the CCG board, alongside terms of reference and committee
criteria on 24 November 2016.
The role of the committee was to review and assess potential service investments and
disinvestments in line with the CCG’s strategy. This included assessing business cases
focusing on the return on investment and value for money to improve health and reduce
health inequalities.
Two meeting of the investment committee were held in 2017/18: its duties and
responsibilities were passed to finance and performance committee from 1 June 2017.
Key areas of focus for the investment committee in 2017/18 included:



Approval of the proposal to invest in the claims management service to be provided
by NEL CSU. Contract for one year was signed on 12 May 2017.
Endorsement of payment of the seed monies to GP Federations.

Quality Committee
The quality committee functions primarily as an assurance committee. The key elements of
its remit are as follows:








Quality, clinical effectiveness and health improvement
Complaints, Freedom of Information requests (FOIs) and the Patient Advice and
Liaison Services (PALS)
Patient safety and experience
Equality and diversity
Serious incidents
Infection control
Safeguarding
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Workforce
Management of risks relating to patient safety and quality, including escalation
where there are concerns
In-depth reviews of specific areas to be timetabled in the committee work plan.

Finance and Performance Committee
The finance and performance committee functions both as an assurance committee and as
a decision making committee. The key elements of its remit are as follows:








Approval of financial plans
Performance of turnaround / financial plan
QIPP and transformation
Business cases for investment and disinvestment
Contract performance
Value for Money reviews
In-depth reviews of specific areas of risk to be timetabled

Commissioning Executive Committee
The commissioning executive was designated as a committee of the board effective 1 July
2017 following the governance review in April 2017.
The commissioning executive committee functions primarily as a decision making
committee. The key elements of its remit are as follows:






Identifying and prioritising key pathways for redesign
Agreeing strategic approach to pathway transformation
Approval of business cases for clinical change
Developing solutions to address health inequalities
Developing solutions to key performance risks

Patient and Public Involvement Committee
The patient and public involvement (PPI) Committee provides the board with assurance that
there is meaningful participation in the business of the CCG from patients, carers, families
and members of public across the CCG’s locality areas. Its role includes the review of
strategies and proposals to offer views from the patients’ perspective.
Other duties include:



Development and oversight of patient and public participation strategy;
Providing information to the board on patient and public involvement issues;
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Working with partners and other organisations to promote robust partnership
working and a coherent approach to engagement with patients and the public;
 Promoting the involvement of patients and the public in the work of the CCG at
multiple levels;
 Evaluating the impact of participation activities;
 Providing a link between CCG-wide and locality level patient issues;
 Providing patient perspectives on a range of draft strategies, proposals and strategic
issues.
 Discusses areas of patient experience
The patient and public involvement committee does not allow deputies to attend meetings
on behalf of committee members. This committee is unusual in that non-board members
are members of the committee as follows:
Board members:



One lay member of the board
One GP board member

Other officers of the board

Associate Director, Communications and Engagement
Locality patient representative members:

Two representatives from each of the localities
Key areas of focus for the PPI Committee in 2017/18 have included:





Monitoring the implementation of the CCG’s patient participation plan;
Input into specific service redesigns, procurements and QIPP schemes;
Progress against Your Care, Your Future;
Review of CCG financial situation.

Locality Committees
Our member practices are arranged into the four localities of Dacorum, Hertsmere, St
Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities has a
locality committee which is made up of local general practitioners. The committees are
responsible for ensuring the board is informed by the members of the clinical
commissioning group and that local knowledge is fed into the decision making process of
the group. They are also responsible for ensuring that members have the opportunity to
contribute to the development of policy and commissioning strategy.
Locality Committees are also responsible for the following:


Advising the board of localities’ priorities;
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Advising members in the locality of the work of the committees;



Consulting with members in the locality on behalf of the board where
requested to do so or otherwise appropriate;



Supporting the board in delivering the objectives of the CCG;



Supporting members of the locality to engage with the CCG; GP, practice and
patient engagement;



Participation and engagement with other localities on the development of the
CCG’s commissioning plans;



Development of locality commissioning plans, within the overall context of the
CCG’s overall plans;



Participation in the development of clinical pathways in accordance with
best practice.

UK Corporate Governance Code
NHS bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate Governance.
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon
best practice available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we
consider to be relevant to the clinical commissioning group.
Evidence that the Code’s principles were applied is provided through the Integrated
Governance Protocol.
Herts Valleys CCG is committed to the highest standards of corporate governance. The
function of good governance is to “ensure that an organisation fulfils its overall purpose,
achieves its intended outcomes for citizens for service users, and operates in an effective,
efficient and ethical manner”3.
The underlying principles of all good governance are listed as follows in the UK Corporate
Governance Code4 :





Accountability
Transparency
Probity
Focus on sustainable success of an entity over the longer term

Accountability

3
4

Office of Public Management and Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 2004
Financial reporting council, April 2016
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The CCG board is accountable to NHS England and to the population of west Hertfordshire,
which is facilitated by the strategic alignment with the Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing
board.

Transparency
The CCG is transparent in its decision making and provides clarity on how and where
decisions are made. Key decisions will be made by the board in public unless this is
precluded by commercial sensitivities.

Probity
The CCG will adopt strong ethical standards and leadership based on honesty and decency.
The board has established values and standards of conduct for all members of staff. The
seven principles of public life5 will be adhered to by all:








Selflessness
Integrity
Objectivity
Accountability
Openness
Honesty
Leadership

Focus on sustainable success of an entity over the longer term
The board will ensure the sustainable success of the CCG in the long term by taking account
of the longer term consequences of all decisions and strategy.

Discharge of statutory functions
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group
has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended 2012) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a
result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
Risk management strategy
5

Committee on standards in public life, 1995
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During 2017/18 the CCG has further improved its approach to risk management within the
organisation. The risk management strategy and procedure has been updated to clarify
and strengthen arrangements for the monitoring and escalation of risks; an integrated
governance protocol has been implemented to clarify the systems, processes and
behaviours by which HVCCG leads, direct and controls its functions in order to achieve its
strategic objectives; the board assurance framework (BAF) is being used to make sure
that we focus on the key risks to delivering these strategic objectives; and the procedures
for submitting papers to the board and its Committees have been updated to provide a
clear focus on assurance rather than reassurance.
As part of the governance improvements introduced during 2017/18, the internal
operational risk management function has transferred to the senior leadership team (SLT)
who raise awareness within teams that understanding and managing risk is an everyday
part of the CCG’s commissioning responsibilities. The SLT provides a forum for peer
challenge and discussion of risk and for a collective approach to the management of
organisation-wide and system risk. Risk is intrinsic to the provision of healthcare and from
the CCG’s perspective the consequences of the risks inherent in commissioning decisions
must be understood before decisions are made. As part of its plans to become further
involved in its collaboration with STP partners during 2018/19, HVCCG will be crossreferencing not only CCG objectives, but also STP priorities and work stream outputs to its
BAF risks to improve their management and the sharing of good quality risk information
across the local healthcare system.
Risks are currently identified through two routes:
• The board assurance framework which assesses and manages the
principle risks associated with the delivery of the CCG’s strategic
objectives.
• The risk register process which is bottom-up and includes risks identified by all
levels of staff across the CCG and within its partnership. All significant risks are
included on the corporate risk register which is reported to the board and its
committees. Less significant risks are managed as part of ‘business as usual’
activity within directorate, programme and project risk registers and escalated to
the corporate risk register as necessary.
The CCG engages with its internal auditors and local counter fraud specialists to ensure
that it has an awareness of risks identified elsewhere and to take steps to avoid these
impacting on it. Internal audit advice and support has also been sought in relation to
specific aspects of CCG work, including contracting; the administration of personal health
budgets; continuing healthcare and arrangements with the local authority. Equally, the
CCG has a strong track record in working with health and social care system partners in
west Hertfordshire and is able to share risks and management of them where this is
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appropriate, including taking account of the outcome of providers’ clinical audits.

Capacity to handle risk
The CCG executive is assigned overall responsibility for each of the four strategic objectives
areas:
 Effective engagement;
 High quality;
 Transforming delivery; and
 Affordable and sustainable care.
The executive is responsible for endorsing the CCG’s system of internal control and
ensuring that there is effective management of risk.

Control mechanisms
There are different levels of risk governance in the CCG:
 Board
 Audit committee
 Quality committee
 Finance and performance committee
 Primary care commissioning committee
 Commissioning executive
 Executive committee
 Senior leadership team
 Locality committees
 Programme groups
The board is accountable for ensuring that the CCG has an effective programme for
managing all types of risk and reviews risks to the strategic objectives of the CCG. It
receives details of all new high level risk exposures at each formal meeting and reviews the
board assurance framework and corporate risk register. The CCG executive directors own
all risks on the board assurance framework and the corporate risk register.
In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately and that the CCG can deliver
its objectives, the board receives and considers written reports from the audit committee,
committees of the board, as well as the commissioning executive and executive. In
particular, the board considers risk reduction plans and monitors progress on action plans
on all significant risks.
Internal audit undertook a review of risk management and assurance in 2017/18 and
concluded that the CCG board can take reasonable assurance that the controls upon
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which the organisation relies to manage the identified risks are suitably designed and
consistently applied.

Risk assessment
During 2017/18 the CCG identified the following significant risks to the achievement of its
strategic objectives.
Strategic Objective 1: Effective Engagement. We will continually improve engagements
with member practices, patients, the public, carers and our staff to contribute to and
influence the work of Herts Valleys CCG.




Risk that we do not engage effectively with a range of our patients, population and
stakeholders.
Risk that member practices and other partners do not see the potential positive impact
of their engagement with HVCCG.G.
Risk that we have an unengaged staff body.

Strategic Objective 2: High Quality. We will commission safe, high quality services that
meet the needs of the population, reducing health inequalities and supporting local people
to avoid ill health and stay well.







Risk that we do not deliver on all NHS Constitutional pledges, key national targets and
priorities.
Risk that we are unable to ensure high quality, safe and sustainable services for the
population and patients of west Hertfordshire.
Risk that the non-emergency patient transport service does not meet patient safety and
quality needs.
Risk that our plans do not promote sufficient focus on health promotion and reduction
of health inequalities.
Risk of lack of adequate system capability in the management and security of
information, data and technology.
Risk that we are unable to ensure high quality, safe and sustainable services for the
population and patients of west Hertfordshire in the delegated commissioning of
primary medical services.

Strategic Objective 3: Transforming Delivery. Work with health and social care partners to
transform the delivery of care through the implementation of “Your Care, Your Future”, the
Strategic Review in west Hertfordshire.


Risk that the joint submission to obtain additional capital resource to successfully
transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire is unsuccessful.
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Risk that there will be insufficient support from local bodies and key stakeholders to
transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire.
Risk that workforce issues prevent us from transforming the delivery of care across the
local health and social care system.

Strategic Objective 4: Affordable & Sustainable Care. We will ensure that there is a
financially sustainable and affordable healthcare system in West Hertfordshire.



Risk that we do not deliver a financially sustainable health and social care system.
Risk that we do not identify the right QIPP schemes or decisions to commission/recommission/decommission, of sufficient value.
 Risk that we do not make sufficient progress on the QIPP schemes identified
 Risk that we do not achieve financial balance in 2017/18.
Internal audit undertook a review of Risk Management and Assurance in 2017/18 and
concluded that the CCG board can take reasonable assurance that the controls upon
which the organisation relies to manage the identified risks are suitably designed and
consistently applied.

Other sources of assurance
Internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed
to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness.
The audit committee has oversight of the internal control mechanisms on behalf of the
board. Executive directors and the commissioning executive committee oversee the
management and delivery of internal control mechanisms. The audit committee bases
its assessments, and therefore assurances, on the effectiveness of the CCG’s controls
on:
•

Assurances provided by the board and committees’ work programmes;

•

Reviews of CCG policies and procedures (e.g. annual review of detailed
financial policies);

•

Provision of assurance from independent sources (e.g. internal audit or third party
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reviews undertaken).

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of conflicts of interest
management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS England has published a
template audit framework.
The audit took place in December and concluded that the CCG has the key elements in place
which underpin an effective conflict of interest framework:




a detailed policy which has been actively communicated to staff;
a checklist for chairs of groups and committees; and
a number of registers which capture all the necessary detail for users to understand
how identified conflicts have been managed.
Two medium and five low priority actions were agreed with management.
Taking account of the issues identified, the board can take reasonable assurance that the
controls upon which the organisation relies to manage this area are suitably designed and
consistently applied. However, we have identified issues that need to be addressed in order
to ensure that the control framework is effective in managing this area. Management
actions relating to the medium findings have been agreed as follows:

1. The Locality Register of Interests will be fully populated to record: Full / Part ownership
of private company / consultancy / plc; Shareholdings of at least 5% in health & social
care company and any other relevant interest for all officers. Clarity will be provided to
officers that if there is no interest, a ‘nil’ or ‘none interest’ should be recorded instead of
leaving the field blank to enhance the audit trail and to protect both the organisation
and the individual officer.
Management update has confirmed “All GP conflict of interest forms have been received
and checked”. - Completed
2. An updated procurement checklist will be completed by bidders who have been reappointed or where contract extensions have been granted to ensure the CCG have an
up to date understanding of how conflicts of interest may have changed over time for
the bidder.
Management update: Contracts will include penalties for non- compliance with conflict
of interest requirements and is due for completion by 30 May 2018.

Data quality
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Good information is essential for the commissioning of appropriate services. The CCG’s
Business Information and Performance team provide key metrics to all committees and to
CCG directors and their staff to enable discharge of their respective functions. Collaboration
agreements are in place between the CCG, East and North Hertfordshire CCG, Hertfordshire
County Council, local NHS providers, North and East London CSU and commercial partners
to allow the necessary data flows.
The board considers the quality of data it receives to be acceptable.

Information governance
The NHS Information Governance (IG) Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively
IG toolkit level of compliance - Level 2
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and are developing have
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the information
governance toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance
training and have implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are
aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and management procedures and a
programme will be established to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation against identified risks.
The internal audit of the CCG’s information governance (IG) toolkit was able to agree the
CCG’s self-assessment scores for all 10 requirements in the sample selected by the auditors.
The CCG’s procedures for managing IG Toolkit improvement plans, including monitoring,
reporting, and compliance, were found to be robust and thus reduce the risk of failure or
delay in implementing improvements to the CCG’s submissions and achievement of target
levels regarding Toolkit compliance.
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Business critical models
The CCG can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment continued to be in
place during 2016/17 to provide quality assurance of business critical models.
There are several aspects of the 2013 MacPherson review which are of relevance to the CCG
to increase the robustness of the modelling work we undertake as well as providing
assurance to the relevant committee and board of the level of confidence which can be
taken from the modelling estimates. The recommendations from the Macpherson report
highlight several of these and they have been adapted for CCG use:








All models should have appropriate quality assurance of their inputs, methodology
and outputs in the context of the risks their use represents. If unavoidable time
constraints prevent this happening then this should be explicitly acknowledged and
reported.
All models should be managed within a framework that ensures appropriately
specialist staff are responsible for developing and using the models as well as quality
assurance.
There should be a single senior responsible owner for each model through its
lifecycle, and clarity from the outset on how quality assurance (QA) is to be
managed. Business cases using results from models should summarise what QA
processes have been undertaken, including the extent of expert scrutiny and
challenge. They should also confirm if the SRO is content the QA process is compliant
and appropriate with any model limitations, risks, and the major assumptions are
understood and applied in generating the model outputs. This needs to include end
users of any model prepared.
The CCG needs to continue to build the right environment for QA, including how
they will address the issues of culture, capacity and capability, and control; including
where possible the development of standardised processes.

Third party assurances




The CCG receives some of its financial services functions from East & North
Hertfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (E&NHCCG) however the transactions
and services managed are subject to HVCCG’s financial control policies and
procedures and assurance is received through internal audit reports.
HVCCG also receives its information and communication technology (ICT) service
from Hertfordshire, Bedfordshire & Luton ICT Services (Hosted by E&NHCCG). The
ICT function is overseen by the HBL ICT stakeholder board at which HVCCG is
represented at Director level. This board considers the effectiveness of the services
received and makes recommendations for improvement.
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HVCCG receives administrative functions in relation to the delivery of delegated
primary care commissioning from Capita Services Ltd. The CCG has received a Service
Auditor Report in relation to these services. The Service Auditor issued a qualified
opinion. The report identifies exceptions with seven out of the 16 control objectives.
These are focused mainly around management of authorised lists and system access
as follows:
- that updates to GPs and registers records are made completely and accurately
based on valid/authorised requests;
- that payments, entitlement and levies for ophthalmic contractors are calculated
and updated completely and accurately to the payment file based on the
valid/authorised supporting information;
- that GPs and other Medical Practitioners (OPMs) pensions are calculated and
deducted/paid completely and accurately based on a signed request form;
- that changes to data on Pensions Online are accurate and are supported by
valid/authorised requests.
- that an authorised persons/representatives list is maintained and that any
changes to the list are supported by approvals from another authorised person
already on the list;
- that logical access by internal Capita staff to NHAIS/Open Exeter is restricted to
authorised individuals.
- that logical access by internal Capita staff to ISFE, NHS Pharmacy Payments
Online and Pensions Online are restricted to authorised individuals.
Progress has been made in addressing the issues and actions have been agreed for
improvements. The issues noted are either not applicable to Herts Valleys CCG or have been
subsequently tested by the Service Auditor and no further exceptions have been found.
Apart from the exceptions noted above, the remaining control objectives met the
requirements.

Control issues
The CCG identified three control issues in 2016/17:
 Adverse variance against plan
 Governance of financial decision making
 Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources
The CCG commissioned an external capacity and capability review, and in May 2017 the
board approved an improvement action plan to return the CCG to a stable and financially
sustainable position.
During 2017/18, we have made significant progress against the actions agreed by the board.
Vacant posts in our core functions (contracts, finance and business intelligence) have been
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filled which has ensured that we can understand how activity changes drive finances and
what actions we need to take to manage the emerging risks.
We have established a separate finance and performance committee who scrutinise our
financial position and give assurance to the board that we are managing the financial risks.
We have improved our forecasting by using more detailed activity analysis, and have applied
this approach to all programme expenditure areas.

Specific control issues – continuing healthcare (CHC) data quality
Continuing healthcare data was identified as having particular control issues during
2016/17. The database recording packages of care was found to be incorrect and out of
date. The continuing healthcare team reviewed and corrected the data during 2017/18, but
the omissions in recording packages understated the estimated cost for 2017/18, which
meant that the budget for 2017/18 was consequently understated.
During the year, the CHC team have undertaken a data cleanse and reviewed the recording
and subsequent forecasting of all commitments, which has resulted in the reporting of an
adverse variance against plan for CHC expenditure. The CCG has been able to meet this cost
pressure through operational efficiencies in other areas.

Review of economy, efficiency & effectiveness of the use of resources
The effectiveness of the use of resources and financial performance of the CCG is monitored
on a monthly basis by the board and its finance and performance committee. The finance
and performance committee is chaired by a lay member of the board. Significant elements
of its remit are to approve financial plans and monitor in-year performance against those
plans and to monitor contract performance. Financial monitoring will include ensuring that
the CCG does not exceed its running (management) costs allocation. The CCG regularly
conducts benchmarking of its activity in order to identify areas for improvement and
potential efficiencies. This information is taken into account in the development of services
QIPP (savings) schemes and bids for investment, all of which are also considered and
monitored by the finance and performance committee.
Corporate risks in respect of financial performance and the use of resources are captured in
the board assurance framework, corporate risk register and directorate level risk registers.
The highest level risks are reported to the audit committee and board of the CCG. The audit
committee is accountable to the board and its remit is to provide the board with an
independent and objective view of the group’s systems, information and compliance with
laws, regulations and directions governing the group. It delivers this remit in the context of
the group’s priorities and the risks associated with achieving them. In accordance with
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Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is required to provide an
annual opinion, based upon and limited to a risk-based plan of work agreed with
management and approved by the audit committee, on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the CCG’s risk management, control and governance processes. The opinion
contributes to the annual governance statement.

Counter fraud arrangements
We have a responsibility to ensure that NHS resources are protected from fraud,
bribery or corruption, which could impact on our ability to commission services and
treatment, as NHS funds are wrongfully diverted from patient care. We adhere to the
key standards that NHS Protect has set out for commissioners:


Strategic Governance – embedding anti-crime measures at all levels across the
organisation.



Inform and Involve – raising awareness amongst NHS staff, stakeholders and the
public of crime risk and the consequences of crime against the NHS.



Prevent and Deter – discouraging and minimising the opportunities for crime.



Hold to Account –investigating and seeking redress for economic crime.

The audit committee provides executive and non-executive responsibility for the
management of anti-fraud, corruption and bribery work. An accredited counter fraud
specialist is contracted to undertake assessments to identify risks and report to the
audit committee on work undertaken.. Additionally the committee receives an annual
local counter fraud services report which highlights key activities during the year and
performance again agreed KPIs.
The Chief Finance Officer is proactively and demonstrably responsible for tackling fraud,
bribery and corruption. Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Local Counter Fraud
quality assurance recommendations.

Raising concerns
The Director of Workforce is responsible for providing six monthly updates to the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the operation of the Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing)
Policy.
The efficacy of the policy can be inferred from responses to the annual staff survey, which
asks three questions that relate to the whistleblowing policy, as follows:



Know how to report unsafe clinical practice
Would feel secure raising concerns about unsafe clinical practice
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Would feel confident that organisation would address concerns about unsafe clinical
practice

Head of Internal Audit opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded
that:
The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management,
governance and internal control.
However, our work has identified further enhancements to the framework of risk
management, governance and internal control to ensure that it remains adequate and
effective.
The enhancements relate to our findings within our Continuing Care and Financial Planning
and QIPP Delivery audits. However, since the original audit on Financial Planning and QIPP
Delivery (June 2017) further testing during the financial year confirmed that the controls in
this area have been significantly improved.
Factors and findings which have informed our final opinion:
We have issued reasonable assurance opinions in relation to the following reviews:
•

Provider Contract Management

•

Key Financial Controls

•

Conflicts of Interest

•

Risk Management and Board Assurance Framework.
However, we issued partial assurance opinions in relation to the following reviews:
Continuing Care
We identified instances where three-month care reviews of service users did not take place,
or where annual reviews were not undertaken in a timely manner. We also found examples
in relation to procurement of care packages where quotations from alternative care
providers, or the reasons for selecting care providers, were not always evident.
Furthermore, there was a lack of contracts in place with providers, along with performance
monitoring of providers. We note that at the time of our audit, the Continuing Healthcare
team were undertaking work internally to correct issues identified and clear the backlog of
care reviews to be undertaken.
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There were six actions raised during the review (four medium and two low). Two medium
and one low action have been implemented and two medium and one low action have a
revised completion date.
Financial Planning and QIPP Delivery
We identified during our review a lack of a formal QIPP policy, specifically a lack of guidance
around setting and monitoring of the QIPP target, guidance for identification of schemes
and use of templates. There was an absence of approval of some schemes and absence of
completed QIPP workbooks. We also found instances where Equality and Quality Impact
Assessments were either not completed or were out of date.
Since the audit fieldwork (June 2017), the CCG have been working on a new PMO process to
streamline the QIPP process. We undertook additional testing on a sample of one QIPP
scheme and reviewed the business case, equality and quality impact assessment and
reporting, and found there to be improvements and clarity in the process. During the
original audit, there were seven actions raised (one high, four medium and two low). During
the review it was found that all seven actions had been implemented. We have an agreed
set of actions for all finalised reports. We will report back on progress on implementation to
the Audit Committee.

Follow up
During 2017/18, there were a total of 42 actions (five high, 22 medium and 15 low) open,
which included actions outstanding from previous years’ internal audit work (16 actions –
four high, eight medium and four low), as well as actions raised during 2017/18 (26 actions –
one high, 14 medium and 11 low). Of these 42 actions, three actions (one medium and two
low), were not yet due for implementation at the time of drafting this opinion. A total of 35
actions (five high, 19 medium and 11 low) had been implemented.
There are four actions (two medium and two low) where revised dates have been agreed
with management. Three of these actions relate to the amber/red reports raised in 2017/18
of Financial Planning and QIPP Delivery (two actions), and Continuing Care (one action).
Based on the work we have undertaken on the CCG’s system on internal control, we do not
consider that within these areas there are any issues that need to be flagged as significant
control issues within the Annual Governance Statement (AGS). However, we would expect
the CCG to consider in the formulation of the AGS the internal control weaknesses identified
within our partial assurance opinions summarised above, along with the actions being taken
to address the issues identified.
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
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Assignment

Executive Lead

Provider Contract
Management

Charles Allen

Financial Planning
and QIPP Delivery

Charlie Wood

Continuing Care

Diane Curbishley

Key Financial Controls Caroline Hall
Conflicts of Interest
Risk Management
and Board Assurance
Framework

Rod While
Rod While

General Data
Rod While
Protection Regulation
(GDPR) Preparedness

Assurance
Level

Actions agreed
H
M
L

Not
categorised

Reasonable
Assurance

0

2

1

-

Partial
Assurance

1

4

2

-

Partial
Assurance

0

4

2

-

Reasonable
Assurance

0

1

0

-

Reasonable
Assurance

0

2

3

-

Reasonable
Assurance

0

1

1

-

Advisory
-

91

5
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Remuneration and Staff Report
Remuneration Report
Remuneration Committee (role and membership set out on p70/71)
Remuneration Policy (not subject to audit)
The remuneration of senior managers is determined by national terms and conditions –
Very Senior Managers Pay Framework. The CCG’s senior managers are employed under the
nationally agreed contractual arrangements, all having been employed on permanent
contracts which include an appropriate notice period. There is no provision in the contracts
for termination payments save for any contractual entitlements to redundancy
compensation which would be calculated using the agreed NHS formula.
The CCG does not operate a Performance Related Pay policy for senior managers or any of
our staff. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and agreed in 2014/15 proposals for
introducing non-financial recognition for high achieving performance in the form of access
to external training and development opportunities.
The pay rates for staff, including senior managers, are assessed against the rates that other
commissioning groups and local NHS bodies offer for similar roles.
Salaries and allowances (subject to audit)
The table below details the salaries and allowances of board members and other senior
managers who were part of the CCG’s Executive Team or regularly attended board meetings
during the year.
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Remuneration for members of the board: salaries and allowances in 2017/18 (Subject to audit)

Name and Title

Kathryn Magson - Chief Executive Officer - Note 1
Caroline Hall - Chief Finance Officer
David Buckle -Medical Director - Note 3
Diane Curbishley - Director of Nursing & Quality
David Evans - Director of Commissioning (from 10 August 2017)
Dr Nicolas Small - GP Director and CCG Chair - Note 5 & 6
Trevor Fernandes - GP Director and Deputy Clinical Chair - Note 5
Richard Pile - GP Director - Note 5
Michael Edwards - GP Director - Note 5
Rami Eliad - GP Director - Note 5
Clair Moring - GP Director - Note 5
Mike Walton - GP Director - Note 5
Corina Ciobanu - GP Director (from 12 May 2017) - Note 5
Thida Win - Secondary Care Consultant - Note 2
Stuart Bloom - Lay Member & CCG Vice Chair - Note 2
Alison Gardner - Lay Member - Note 2
Paul Smith - Lay Member - Note 2
Thelma Stober - Lay Member - Note 2

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
140-145
110-115
90-95
110-115
70-75
125-130
90-95
75-80
45-50
70-75
80-85
80-85
80-85
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15
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Expense Performance
payments
pay and
(taxable)
bonuses
to nearest
(bands of
£100
£5,000)
£
0
0
0
0
3,700
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
100
0
0

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Long term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

All pension
related
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

TOTAL
(bands
of
£5,000)

£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
105-107.5
70-72.5
0
47.5-50
15-17.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

£000
245-250
180-185
90-95
160-165
90-95
125-130
90-95
75-80
45-50
70-75
80-85
80-85
80-85
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table 2017/18
1. Since last year's calculation for Kathryn Magson, 1995 Scheme benefits have been transferred to
the 2015 Scheme.
2. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of
pension benefits for Lay Members.
3. David Buckle does not have an entry in respect of pension benefits because he is not a member of
the Pension scheme.
4. Pension-related benefits are calculated in accordance with the 'HMRC method’. In summary, this is
as follows:
Increase = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB, where
• PE is the annual rate of unreduced pension that would be payable to the individual if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year
• PB is the annual rate of unreduced pension, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
individual if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year
• LSE is the amount of unreduced lump sum that would be payable to the individual if they
became entitled to it at the end of the financial year
• LSB is the amount of unreduced lump sum, adjusted for inflation, that would be payable to the
individual if they became entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year
5. Where a GP board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the
payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under the "Practitioner Pension
Scheme". The CCG must make the post non pensionable on the payroll and submit a GP Solo form
with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS
Pension Authority. The salary banding above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension
contribution, where relevant.
6. In addition to his remuneration as a GP Board Member and CCG Chair above, Nicolas Small also
received £8,418 in salary which is recharged to Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation NHS Trust for his
role as the clinical lead in the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership.
Fair pay disclosure (audited element of Remuneration Report)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highestpaid director/member in the organisation and the median remuneration of the CCG’s workforce, as at
the reporting date (31st March 2018).
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Herts Valleys CCG at the reporting
date was £140,000 - £145,000. (2016-17: £265,000 - £270,000). This was 3.82 times (2016-17: 7.3
times) the median remuneration of the CCG’s workforce which was £37,259 (2016-17: £36,890).
In 2017-18 the CCG engaged the services of a Director of Delivery on an interim basis and the total
paid in respect of this appointment was £155,031. In 2017-18, at the reporting date, this role
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exceeded the £142,500 remuneration of the highest paid director/member of the CCG's governing
body. The CCG took steps to ensure that this remuneration was reasonable by agreeing the
appointment as part of an improvement plan presented to NHSE in August 2017.
In 2016-17, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid
director /member of the CCG's governing body. In 2017-18 remuneration ranged from £155,031 to
£11,224 (2016-17:£265,375 to £11,705).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and benefits-in-kind.
It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions (with the exception of GP
Directors, see Note 5 above, where employer pension contributions are included in accordance with
guidance) and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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Remuneration for members of the board: salaries and allowances in 2016/17 (Subject to audit)

Name and Title

Nicola Bell - Accountable Officer (1st April 2016 - 1st May 2016)- Note 1
Cameron Ward - Interim Accountable Officer (1st April 2016 - 15th March
2017) - Note 2
Kathryn Magson - Chief Executive (16th March 2017 - 31st March 2017)
Alan Warren - Chief Finance Officer (1st April 2016 - 30th September 2016)
Caroline Hall - Chief Finance Officer (1st October 2016 - 31st March 2017)
David Buckle -Medical Director
Diane Curbishley - Director of Nursing & Quality
Dr Nicolas Small - GP Director and CCG Chair
Trevor Fernandes - GP Director & Deputy Clinical Chair
Richard Pile - GP Director
Michael Edwards - GP Director
Rami Eliad - GP Director
Keith Hodge - GP Director
Clair Moring - GP Director
Mike Walton - GP Director
Thida Win - Secondary Care Consultant (1st June 2016 - 31st March 2017)
Stuart Bloom - Lay Member & CCG Vice Chair
Alison Gardner - Lay Member
Paul Smith - Lay Member
Thelma Stober - Lay Member
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£000
0

Long Term
Performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000
0

All
Pension
Related
Benefits
(bands of
£2,500)
£000
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0-2.5
0
30-32.5
0
165-167.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Salary
(bands
of
£5,000)

Expense
payments
(taxable)
to nearest
£100

Performanc
e pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

£000
10-15

£
0

265-270
5-10
60-65
55-60
80-85
100-105
145-150
105-110
85-90
55-60
75-80
40-45
85-90
85-90
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

0
0
100
0
100
200
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0

Total
(bands
of
£5,000)
£000
10-15
265-270
5-10
60-65
85-90
80-85
270-275
145-150
105-110
85-90
55-60
75-80
40-45
85-90
85-90
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table for 2016/17

*The 2016-17 Remuneration report has been restated in respect of the contract for services
that GP Directors have with the CCG. The GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC
rulings and the position is pensionable under the "Practitioner Pension Scheme". The must
make the post non pensionable on the payroll and submit GP SOLO forms with the
employers pension contribution of 14.3% plus 0.08% administration levy to the NHS Pension
Authority. The salary figure shown above in respect of these board members is based on
gross pay and employer pension contributions.
Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table
1. For 2016/17 the list of disclosures has been revised to better meet the definition of
senior managers and now includes only Executive Directors (with voting rights), GP
Members, Secondary Care Consultant and Lay Members.
2. Nicola Bell was on annual leave for the overlapping period with Cameron Ward
3. During the financial year 2016/17 the CCG engaged the services of its Accountable
Officer on an interim basis. The total costs paid in respect of this appointment exceed
£142,500.
In determining the rate of pay costs were benchmarked against other candidates of
similar experience and suitability for the post.
The rate paid was the lowest of these benchmarked rates. This appointment was
discussed with and recommended by NHS England.
4. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in
respect of pension benefits for Lay Members.
5. Pension-related benefits are calculated in accordance with the 'HMRC method'. In
summary, this is as follows:
Increase = ((20 x PE) + LSE) – ((20 x PB) + LSB, where
• PE is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the individual if they became
entitled to it at the end of the financial year
• PB is the annual rate of pension that would be payable to the individual if they became
entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year

• LSE is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the individual if they became

99

entitled to it at the end of the financial year
• LSB is the amount of lump sum that would be payable to the individual if they became
entitled to it at the beginning of the financial year
6. Details of the pensions and lump sums payable are provided by NHS Pensions
Pay Multiples (audited element of Remuneration Report)
The CCG is required to disclose the relationship between the highest paid
director/member in the organisation and the median remuneration of the CCG’s
workforce, as at the reporting date (31st March 2017
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Herts Valleys CCG at
the reporting date was £265,000 - £270,000
(2015/16: £130,000 - £135,000). This was 7.3 times (2015/16:3.4 times) the median
remuneration of the CCG's workforce which was £ 36,890 (2015/16: £38,681).
In 2016/17 and 2015/16, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in
excess of the highest paid director/member of the CCG's Governing body.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and
benefits-in-kind.
It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2018 (Subject to audit)

Relating to the period 1 April 2017 to 31st
March 2018

Name and title
Kathryn Magson - Accountable Officer - Note 1
&2
Caroline Hall - Chief Finance Officer
Diane Curbishley - Director of Nursing &
Quality
David Evans - Director of Commissioning (from
10/08/2017) - Note 2
David Buckle - Medical Director - Note 3
Dr Nicolas Small - GP Director and CCG Chair Note 4
Trevor Fernandes - GP Director - Note 4
Rami Eliad - GP Director - Note 4
Richard Pile - GP Director - Note 4
Michael Edwards - GP Director - Note 4
Clair Moring - GP Director - Note 4
Mike Walton - GP Director - Note 4
Corina Ciobanu - GP Director (from 12 May
2017) - Note 4

Real increase
in pension at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2018 (bands
of £5,000)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2017

Real increase
in Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value funded
by CCG

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2018

Employer's
contribution
to
stakeholder
pension

£000

Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2018 (bands
of £5,000)
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£00

5.0-7.5
2.5-5.0

0
5.0-7.5

10-15
30-35

0
85-90

94
514

23
44

141
608

0
0

2.5-5.0

7.5-10.0

40-45

120-125

634

45

731

0

0-2.5
0
0

0
0
0

0-5
0
0

0
0
0

0
0

6
0
0

41
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
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Staff Report
Equality and diversity
The Equality Act 2010: The public sector equality duty
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 states that a public authority must have due regard to
the need to:


eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by or under this Act;
 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;
 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it.
Throughout the year of this Annual Report, Herts Valleys CCG’s engagement approach was
fully cognisant of this duty and it will continue to promote equality of opportunity for the
population of Herts Valleys in the context of all its commissioning engagement activities in
the future.
We met our statutory responsibilities around data publication and will meet the NHS
requirements in using the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) and the Workforce Race
Equality Standard (WRES) as tools to enable us to review our equality and diversity work and
identify where improvements can be made.

NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
CCGs are required to have “due regard” to the WRES in respect of their own workforce. It is
recognised that the small size of many CCGs means that a literal application and
interpretation of the indicators should be approached with caution. CCGs should pay due
regard to the WRES both as an indication they are complying with their Public Sector
Equality Duty and in order to demonstrate that as commissioners they also take the intent
of the WRES seriously.”
25% of the CCG’s workforce is from a black and ethnic minority (BME) background. This is a
slight decrease from last year but our proportion of BME employees is higher than the BME
proportion of the local demographic (11.24%). BME employees are spread throughout the
pay bands in the CCG (from Band 4 to Band 9). These are indicators that we are performing
well.
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Equality and diversity action planning and the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
The CCG is required to implement EDS2. Our last assessment took place a number of years
ago and as part of a Hertfordshire wide assessment and was graded as Developing (on a
scale of Undeveloped, Developing, Achieving and Excelling). We have begun the review of
our EDS2. It is looking only at the work of Herts Valleys CCG. We will use the findings from
that to refresh our equality and diversity strategy and action plan.
Following changes to the way that equality and diversity was delivered to the CCG, now a
shared resource with the two Hertfordshire CCGs and Bedfordshire CCG to improve sharing
of expertise and good practice.

Organisational gender profile
Overall workforce
Gender
Male
Female

24.52
75.48

Percentage of each gender by pay band
Key:

Non-AfC = Not on NHS Agenda for Change terms and conditions
VSM = Very Senior Managers

Pay Band
Band 2
Band 3
Band 4
Band 5
Band 6
Band 7
Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
Non-AfC
VSM

2017/18
Male (%)
Female (%)
1.27
0.64
5.88
9.55
5.88
12.1
5.88
15.92
17.65
13.38
10.83
5.88
17.2
1.96
3.18
5.88
3.18
2.55
43.14
9.55
7.84
0.64
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Staff policies applied during the year (not subject to audit)
The following revised staff policies were applied during the year:
 Agency and Interim Use Policy
 Agile working Policy
 Alcohol Drug and Substance Misuse Policy
 Annual Leave Policy
 Appraisal and Performance Review Policy
 Apprenticeship Policy
 Attendance Management and Wellbeing Policy
 Bullying and Harassment Policy
 Capability Management Policy
 Disciplinary Policy
 Employment Break Policy
 Equality and Diversity Policy
 Flexible Working Policy
 Grievance Policy
 Maternity, Maternity Support (Paternity), Adoption/Fostering, Parental Leave Policy
 Organisational Change Policy
 Overtime, On-Call and Working Time Policy
 Probation and induction Policy
 Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy
 Recruitment and Selection Policy
 Secondment Policy
 Special Leave Policy
 Verification of Professional Registrations Policy
 Volunteer Policy
All staff policies are available on the website www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk

Job applications from disabled persons
The CCG previously held the Positive About Disabled People (PADP) award presented by
Jobcentre Plus to those employers who demonstrated a commitment to recruiting disabled
employees and developing their skills and prospects. This award was also known as the Two
Ticks award because of the design of logo looked like two ticks.
The PADP award was replaced by the Disability Confident award, and at the expiration of
our PADP certificate we applied for, and were awarded, the Disability Confident Employer
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award. This awarded for two years from June 2017, recognising our commitment to
recruiting and developing disabled employees.

Workforce data
Sickness absence
Sickness absence data relating to the 2017 calendar year extracted from NHS Digital,
utilising data available as at 5 February 2018.
Total days lost
(source: NHS Digital, information only available for
January 2017-October 2017)
Average absence per employee
(average of total days lost by CCG headcount at 5
February 2018)
Long term absence episodes
(taken from ESR)
Long term days total
(taken from ESR; included in total days lost)

2017-18

2016-17

1,605 days

1,439 days

7.7 days

6 days

12 days

12 days

866 days

765 days

Gender breakdown as at 5 Feb 2018, report run 5 Feb 2018 (subject to audit)
Governing Body members (covers VSM pay framework grades)
Male
Headcount
%
Headcount
8
53.33
7
Senior Managers – Band 8a and above
Male
Headcount
%
31
31.63%

Female
%
46.66

Female
Headcount
67

All other bands (band 7 and below)
Male
Headcount
%
17
15.45

%
68.37

Female
Headcount
93

%
84.54%

Trade union facility time
Statutory Instrument 2017 No. 328 requires CCGs to publish trade union facility time. There
were no relevant trade union officials employed by the CCG during 2017/18.
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Expenditure on consultancy (not subject to audit)
The CCG recorded net expenditure of £408,858 on management consultancy in 2017/18.
The principle transactions are summarised in the table below:
CONSULTANCY PROVIDER
AYRES HEALTHCARE CONSULTANCY LTD
BARKEROLLINS LTD
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
CHANNEL 3 CONSULTING LTD
ROWAN TREE CONSULTANCY
DBPROFILE LTD
ALL OTHER PROVIDERS
TOTAL

Amount
(£)
36,000
59,144
45,546
137,684
33,540
10,368
86,576
408,858

Purpose
Procurement support
Procurement support
Procurement support
Business information analytics support
Business information analytics support
Business information analytics support
Various

Off-payroll engagements (not subject to audit)
Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2018, for more than £245 per day and that
last longer than six months:
Number
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2018

32

Of which:
No. that have existed for less than one year at the time of reporting
No. that have existed for between one and two years at the time of
reporting

30

No. that have existed for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting

0

No. that have existed for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting

0

No. that have existed for 4 or more years at the time of reporting

0

2

All existing off-payroll engagements outlined above have been subject to a risk based
assessment as to whether the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where
necessary, that assurance has been sought.
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Table 2: New off-payroll engagements
For all new off-payroll engagements between 01 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, for more
than £245 per day and that last longer than six months:
Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018

32

Of which:
No. assessed as caught by IR35

31

No. assessed as not caught by IR35

1

No. engaged directly (via Personal Services Contract contracted to CCG)
and are on CCG payroll
No. of engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes
during the year.
No. of engagements that saw a change in IR35 status following the
consistency review.

21
1
1

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements
For all off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 01 April 2017 and 31 March 2018.
Number
No. of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year.
No. of individuals that have been deemed “board members, and/or, senior
officials with significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year.
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Table 4: Employee benefits and staff numbers (subject to audit)

Employee Benefits 2017/18
Employee benefits

2017-18

Total

Admin

Programme

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

9,918
894
1,013
0
30
4
11,860

8,037
894
1,013
0
30
4
9,978

1,881
0
0
0
0
0
1,881

7,718
710
768
0
30
4
9,229

6,265
710
768
0
30
4
7,776

1,453
0
0
0
0
0
1,453

2,201
185
245
0
0
0
2,630

1,773
185
245
0
0
0
2,202

428
0
0
0
0
0
428

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
11,860

0
9,978

0
1,881

0
9,229

0
7,776

0
1,453

0
2,630

0
2,202

0
428

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
11,860

0
9,978

0
1,881

0
9,229

0
7,776

0
1,453

0
2,630

0
2,202

0
428
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Employee Benefits 2016/17
Employee benefits

2016-17

Total

Admin

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

9,176
796
853
0
0
12
10,838

7,058
760
853
0
0
12
8,682

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

0
10,838

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
10,838

Programme

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Other
£'000

2,119
36
0
0
0
0
2,155

7,353
671
686
0
0
12
8,722

5,855
635
686
0
0
12
7,187

1,498
36
0
0
0
0
1,534

1,824
125
167
0
0
0
2,116

1,203
125
167
0
0
0
1,495

621
0
0
0
0
0
621

0
8,682

0
2,155

0
8,722

0
7,187

0
1,534

0
2,116

0
1,495

0
621

0
8,682

0
2,155

0
8,722

0
7,187

0
1,534

0
2,116

0
1,495

0
621

Average number of people employed
2017-18

Total

Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

184

166

18

176

147
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2016-17
Other
Number
29

Exit Packages (subject to audit)
The CCG made one payment in respect of an exit package during the financial year to value
of £4,259. This was a contractual payment in lieu of notice.
There were no payments during the financial year relating to compulsory or non-compulsory
redundancies.
Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of
the Agenda for Change pay scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in this note are accounted for in
full in the year of departure. Where the CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional
costs are met by the CCG and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs
are met by the NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table.

2017 NHS staff survey results
79.9% of our staff who were eligible (having been employed by the CCG for six months or
more) took part in the 2017 NHS national staff survey. This is in line with the CCG response
average of 80% and an improvement on last year’s response rate of 77%.
This year’s responses were again largely positive and higher than the national average in a
number of areas. The following are our top five results where we performed better than
other CCGs:


Score of 3.98 on satisfaction with quality of work and care delivered (2016 – 3.89; CCG
average 3.74)
 Score of 3.98 for motivation at work (2016 – 3.94; CCG average 3.87)
 92% of respondents said they had been appraised in last 12 months (2016 - 93%; CCG
average 84%)
 86% of respondents feel their role makes a difference to patients/service users (2016 87%; CCG average 77%)
 Score of 4.06 on CCG/management interest in and action on health and wellbeing (2016
– 4.18; CCG average 3.85)
Poorest results and areas of concern included:




79% of respondents say they work additional hours (2016 - 73%; CCG average 73%)
3.39 score for satisfaction with resourcing and support (2016 – 3.45; CCG average 3.46)
3.74 score for confidence and security in reporting unsafe clinical practice (2016 – 3.86;
CCG average 3.87)
This emphasises the need for work to be done to improve work-life balance for staff.
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89% of staff felt that the CCG acts fairly with regard to career progression/promotion,
regardless of ethnic background, gender, religion, sexual orientation, disability or age.
However, it is still concerning that 11% of staff felt they have experienced discrimination at
work and 22% of respondents said that they had experienced harassment, bullying or abuse
from staff or managers (2016 - 30%; CCG average 20%).
Work immediately started with the Staff Involvement Group to go through what we are
doing well at the CCG, how we can do even better and how we can address ways of
improving staff engagement. This will be addressed by our staff conference in May 2018.
Follow these links to read the full and detailed results (56 pages) or a shorter summary (23
pages).

Staff Involvement Group
Our staff involvement group (SIG), made up of representatives across the CCG, supports our
responsibility to ensure the wellbeing, motivation and engagement of our workforce.
The group, co-chaired by the Director of Workforce and Associate Director of
Communications and Engagement, provides a forum for staff to air their views on key issues
affecting staff and wellbeing and makes recommendations to the executive team.
Over the last year the group has supported the move to a ‘hot desking’ and a new desk
booking system, following a rationalisation of accommodation and for the first time
organised the annual staff conference. This was positively received and the group is leading
arrangements for this year’s conference. The group has also worked with colleagues to
support various charity events
Relevant organisational policies are reviewed and approved by the group before going to
the executive team for final approval, with a SIG member sitting on the policy forum
committee who regularly meet to review all Human Resource policies.

Staff wellbeing
We have taken various actions over the year to ensure the physical and emotional wellbeing
of our staff by promoting healthy lifestyles and supporting people’s individual workplace
health concerns and requirements. This has included:




Raising awareness of our freedom to speak up guardian, who is a lay member of our
board. She has had a number of very constructive sessions with staff when they have
raised issues with her.
Making affordable chiropractic, reflexology and back and shoulder massage
appointments available for staff in our Hemel One office.
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Arranging for a nurse display screen equipment (DSE) assessor to provide advice and
support for staff in correctly setting up workstations, including addressing specific
muscular skeletal conditions.
Our staff wellbeing champions promoted regular walking challenges and arranged a
wellbeing staff event based around the five steps to wellbeing.
To prevent ill health we offered all staff fully funded flu vaccinations, with over 100
taking this up.
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a Parliamentary
Accountability and Audit Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and
special payments, gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial
Statements of this report at [insert cross-reference(s) as required]. An audit certificate and
report is also included in this Annual Report at [insert page reference].
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS
HERTS VALLEYS CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning
Group (the CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted
and adapted by the 2017-18 Government Financial Reporting Manual as contained in the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017-18 and the Accounts
Directions issued by NHS England.
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Herts Valleys CCG as at 31
March 2018 and of its net expenditure for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social
Care Group Accounting Manual 2017-18; and
have been prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Basis for opinion on financial statements
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Herts Valleys CCG,
as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as
set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies
published by the National Audit Office in April 2015. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG
and the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.
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Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs
(UK) require us to report to you where:
•

the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

•

the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does
not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Basis for opinion on regularity
We carried out our work on regularity in accordance with Practice Note 10 issued by the
Public Audit Forum. Our responsibilities in this respect are further described in the Auditor’s
other responsibilities section of our report. We believe the evidence obtained from this
work, in conjunction with the evidence we have obtained in our audit of the financial
statements, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on regularity.
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Opinion on information in the Remuneration and Staff Report
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is
described in that report as having been audited. In our opinion the parts of the
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017-18.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation which the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires us to report to you if:
•
•

•
•
•

in our opinion the Governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by
the NHS England; or
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer
of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve
the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a
course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to
cause a loss or deficiency; or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014; or
we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer Responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Accountable
Officer either intends to liquidate the CCG or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
As explained in the Statement of the Accountable Officer Responsibilities, the Accountable
Officer is also responsible for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which
the Accountable Officer is answerable and for ensuring the CCG exercises its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
In respect of our audit of the financial statements our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located at the Financial Reporting Council’s website
at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor’s report.
Auditor’s other responsibilities
In addition to our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain evidence
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the
financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
We are also required under section 21(3)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are
satisfied that proper arrangements are in place.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.
As set out in the Matters on which we report by exception section of our report there are
certain other matters which we are required to report by exception.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Herts Valleys CCG in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the
Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office.
Lisa Clampin
For and on behalf of BDO LLP Ipswich, UK
25 May 2018
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered
number OC305127).
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2018
2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

(760)
(48)
(808)

(1,053)
(7)
(1,060)

11,860
832,776
3,713
568
848,917

10,838
750,463
756
492
762,549

Net operating expenditure

848,109

761,489

Total Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March

848,109

761,489

Note
Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income
2
3
3
3

Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure

The notes on pages 124 to 133 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018
General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Balance at 1 April 2017

(46,518)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2017-18
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(848,109)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(894,627)

Net funding

840,437

Balance at 31 March 2018

(54,190)

General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Balance at 1 April 2016

(40,396)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17
Net operating costs for the financial year

(761,489)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(801,885)

Net funding

755,367

Balance at 31 March 2017

(46,518)

The notes on pages 124 to 133 form part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018
2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

(848,109)
(2,603)
6,874
(236)
3,713
(840,361)

(761,489)
501
5,725
(702)
756
(755,209)

(840,361)

(755,209)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

840,437

755,367

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

840,437

755,367

76

158

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial year

321

163

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the end of the financial year

397

321

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
(Increase) / decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

6

Net Cash Outflow before Financing

5

Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents

The notes on pages 124 to 133 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued
by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group
Accounting Manual 2017-18 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the Group Accounting
Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting
policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the
purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
The CCG contributes to pooled budget arrangements under a s75 agreement with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC). These arrangements do
not fall within the scope of IFRS 11.
The pool is hosted by HCC and the CCG accounts for its contributions to the pool as expenditure. Underspends and overspends are attributed to
and accounted for by the contributors to the pool in accordance with the risk arrangements set out in the s75 agreement.

1.4

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable. Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.5

Employee Benefits

1.5.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.5.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the scheme
is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.

1.6

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair
value of the consideration payable.

1.7

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.

1.8

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised
when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.8.1

Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.9

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) Group Accounting Manual does not require the following standards and interpretations to be
applied in 2017-18. HM Treasury has adopted IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 into the Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) for 2018-19 and is expected to
adopt IFRS 16 in the FReM for 2019-20. The standards will become effective for future financial reporting periods and have not been adopted in
these financial statements.
·
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments (application from 1 January 2018)
·
IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers (application from 1 January 2018)
·
IFRS 16: Leases (expected application from 1 January 2019)
The application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2017-18, were they applied in that
year. We do not yet know how IFRS 16 will impact on the CCG once it is applied, as we have not yet assessed the impact.

1.10

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and
underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.10.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management have made in the process of applying the
CCG's accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.10.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Prescription Services
The CCG receives financial information from NHS Prescription Services who process prescription items to reimburse and remunerate pharmacy
contractors. In addition they supply the CCG with information relating to the cost of drugs prescribed by Independent GP’s, CCG run Practices
and other CCG Services.
Information is available two months in arrears and therefore the CCG must estimate February and March costs using the PPA estimated
cumulative profile and historic trends to provide the total expenditure in the year. The estimate for 2017-18 was £12,612k (2016-17 £12,189k)
and was based on information provided by NHS Business Services Authority, historic expenditure trends for February and March, and included in
Trade and Other Payables.
Continuing Care Provision
A provision of £4,137k has been created, representing the estimated cost to the CCG of settling 82 outstanding appeals and retrospective claims
seeking continuing health care funding. The estimated cost of settlement is calculated using actual cost where known and an estimate taking into
account the number of days of care for which the appeal/claim is lodged multiplied by the average cost of care (estimated at £1,170 per week)
and an estimate for interest payments applicable to each claim.
Secondary Healthcare
Secondary care activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final month of the year is not available in time
for the accounts and estimates of £15,327k for 2017-18 (£15,300k 2016-17) were made in agreement with providers. A full reconciliation is
undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is at the end of the first quarter of the following year. Any increase or decrease in activity (if any)
becomes a charge or credit in the next financial year.

1.11

Contingent Liability
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG, or a present obligation that is not recognised because
it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A
contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
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2. Employee benefits and staff numbers
2.1 Employee benefits
Employee benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
£'000

9,918
895
1,013
30
4
11,860

9,176
796
853
0
12
10,838

2.2 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable
and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in
each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would
be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations
shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as
at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with
updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for
financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2018, is based on valuation data as 31 March
2017, updated to 31 March 2018 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment,
the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also
been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the
annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into
account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March
2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with
the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and employer representatives
as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2018 and is currently being prepared. The direction assumptions
are published by HM Treasury which are used to complete the valuation calculations, from which the final valuation report can be
signed off by the scheme actuary. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost
of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member
benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’
assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for
Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
For 2017-18, employers’ contributions of £1,065k were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2016-17: £948k) at the rate of
14.38% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on
HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation. The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published
on the Government website on 9 June 2012. These costs are included in the NHS pension line of note 2.1.
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3. Operating expenses

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Premises
Audit fees (Note 1 and 2)
Other non statutory audit expenditure
· Internal audit services
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS (Note 3)
Other professional fees excl. audit
Legal Fees
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

2017-18
Total
£'000

2016-17
Total
£'000

10,227
1,633
11,860

8,868
1,970
10,838

285
117,922
380,951
159,712
11,174
196
28
3,097
409
2,362
895
54

235
111,939
379,964
159,454
11,322
222
0
4,146
389
1,569
654
88

40
75,764
79,114
164
723
81
3,713
0
1
372
837,057

45
73,230
5,524
416
288
90
756
1,111
0
269
751,711

848,917

762,549

Note 1
Audit fees includes VAT and the net amount is £45k (2016-17 £73k)
Note 2
Limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2017-18 is
£1million or, if greater, 10 times the total of fees invoiced under the Engagement Letter.
Note 3
This is the first year of delegated commissioning arrangements whereby the CCG has assumed full
responsibility for contractual GP performance management, budget management and the design and
implementation of local incentive schemes, all of which were previously the responsibility of NHS
England. The total expenditure relating to this was £72,323k.
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4. Better Payment Practice Code
2017-18
Number

2017-18
£'000

2016-17
Number

2016-17
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

22,669
22,239
98.10%

267,087
263,632
98.71%

21,590
21,151
97.97%

188,089
183,308
97.46%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,970
3,782
95.26%

535,173
530,179
99.07%

4,331
3,778
87.23%

492,175
481,486
97.83%

Measure of compliance

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a
valid invoice, whichever is later.

5. Cash and cash equivalents
2017-18
£'000
321
76
397

2016-17
£'000
163
158
321

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service

397

321

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

397

321

Balance at 31 March

397

321

Current
2017-18
£'000

Current
2016-17
£'000

8,949
8,456
6,227
30,893
139
117
2,614
57,395

15,219
4,506
9,219
21,047
125
113
293
50,521

Balance at 1 April
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March

6. Trade and other payables

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables
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7. Financial instruments
7.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had
during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be
typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to
borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather
than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within
the CCG standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review
by the CCG and internal auditors.
7.1.1 Credit risk
Because the majority of the CCG and revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to credit
risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the
trade and other receivables note.
7.1.2 Liquidity risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG is not, therefore,
exposed to significant liquidity risks.
7.2 Financial assets

Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March

Loans and
Receivables
2017-18
£'000

Loans and
Receivables
2016-17
£'000

4,088
534
397
2
5,021

1,216
1,009
321
21
2,567

Other
2017-18
£'000

Other
2015-16
£'000

17,405
39,734
57,139

19,725
30,559
50,284

7.3 Financial liabilities

Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Total at 31 March

8. Operating segments
The CCG consider they have only one segment in 2017-18 and 2016-17: Commissioning of healthcare services.
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9. Pooled budgets
Under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, funds were pooled with Hertfordshire County Council, East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG for
the joint commissioning of the following services:
- mental health, learning disabilities, including child and adolescent mental health
- integrated community equipment
- services commissioned through the Better Care Fund
The Better Care Fund, as set out in the s75 agreement, includes elements of funding from both Hertfordshire County Council and Herts Valleys CCG that are not pooled and
therefore not included within the table below.
For 2017-18 these contributions totalled £83,827k for Herts Valleys CCG (2016-17 £80,921k) and £55,083k for Hertfordshire County Council (2016-17 £62,216k).
The CCG's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget for 2017-18 and 2016-17 were:
Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

Equipment Service

2017-18
Contribution
Expenditure
Total Variance:

Total PooledBudget
2017-18
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2017-18
£000

Total PooledBudget
2017-18
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2017-18
£000

5,745
5,074
671

1,414
1,249
165

336,582
336,528
54

74,159
74,150
9

Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

Equipment Service

2016-17
Contribution
Expenditure
Total Variance:

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2017-18
£000

All Pooled
Funds
Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2017-18
£000

13,757
12,872
885

89,330
88,271
1,059

Better Care Fund

Total PooledBudget
2017-18
£000
13,814
12,929
885

All Pooled
Funds

Better Care Fund

Total PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2016-17
£000

Total PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2016-17
£000

Total PooledBudget
2016-17
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2016-17
£000

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2016-17
£000

6,745
5,646
1,099

1,666
1,394
272

323,022
322,836
186

72,283
72,196
87

18,457
18,616
(159)

18,457
18,616
(159)

92,406
92,206
200
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10. Related party transactions
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, CCG Board members or
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the CCG.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Board. Details of payments made by the CCG to their practices and
related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as follows:
Receipts Amounts Amounts
from owed to due from
Related Related Related
Party
Party
Party
£000
£000
£000
£000

Payments to
Related Party

Callowland Surgery - Dr C Moring
Direct Local Health Ltd - Dr R Eliad and Dr C Moring
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr M Edwards
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Herts Health Ltd - GP Federation (Dr Edwards)
Harvey Group Practice - Dr M Walton
Haverfield Surgery - Dr C Ciobanu
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - GP Federation (Dr T Fernandes and Dr C
Ciobanu)

1,101
1,247
1,580
1,124
244
1,284
350
740
1,920
2,016
1,499

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2
223
2
2
14
6
0
76
3
12
4

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

552

0

45

0

As from 1 April 2017, the CCG assumed delegated responsibility for primary care commissioning arrangements. This has resulted in an
increase in the value of payments to practices.
The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG had a significant number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The CCG adopted a disclosure level of
£1million in 2017-18 and these entities are listed below. In addition, the CCG had a number of material transactions with other
government departments and other central and local government bodies. Where appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in
the list below.
Barts Health NHS Trust
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
London North West Healthcare NHS Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Hertfordshire County Council
NHS East And North Hertfordshire CCG
HM Revenue and Customs
National Health Service Pension Scheme
The CCG received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
2016-17 comparators are shown on the following page.
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10a. Related party transactions (2016-17)
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, CCG Board members
or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the CCG.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Board. Details of payments made by the CCG to their practices
and related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as follows:

Payments
to Related
Party
£000
132
1,591
254
228
159
174
906
232
291
233
426
211

Callowland Surgery - Dr C Moring
Direct Local Health Ltd - Dr R Eliad and Dr C Moring
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr M Edwards
Fernville Surgery - Dr K Hodge
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Harvey Group Practice - Dr M Walton
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - Dr T Fernandes and Dr K Hodge
Parkfield Medical Centre Potters Bar - C Sutherland

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
0
76
2
0
2
0
169
2
0
0
33
1

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG had a significant number of
material transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The CCG adopted a disclosure
level of £1million in 2016-17 and these entities are listed below. In addition, the CCG had a number of material transactions with
other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Where appropriate, these transactions have also
been reflected in the list below.
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
London North West Healthcare NHS Trust
Barts Health NHS Trust
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust
Guy's & St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Brompton & Harefield NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
NHS East And North Hertfordshire CCG
Hertfordshire County Council
NHS England
HM Revenue and Customs
National Health Service Pension Scheme
The CCG received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
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11. Events after the end of the reporting period
The CCG considers there are no material events after the end of the reporting period that are required to be disclosed in this note.

12. Financial performance targets
NHS CCG have a number of financial duties under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended 2012).
The CCG performance against those duties was as follows:
2017-18

2017-18

2016-17

2016-17

Target
£000

Performance
£000

Target
£000

Performance
£000

853,714

848,917

762,794

762,550

0

0

0

0

852,859

848,109

761,733

761,489

0

0

0

0

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions

0

0

0

0

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

13,249

13,239

13,203

13,178

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the
amount specified in Directions
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